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NEW LEGISLATION 

SENATE BILL 54 – THE CALIFORNIA VALUES ACT 

SB 54 enacted the “California Values Act,” but is part of several bills signed by Governor Brown 
as part of the so-called “Sanctuary State” laws.  This law repeals existing law stating that when 
there is reason to believe that a person arrested for a violation of a controlled substance may not 
be a citizen of the United States, the arresting agency shall notify the appropriate agency of the 
United States who has charge of deportation matters.  Effective, January 1, 2018, the California 
Values Act prohibits state and local law enforcement agencies, including school police and 
security departments, from using money or personnel to “investigate, interrogate, detain, detect, 
or arrest persons for immigration enforcement purposes,” as specified, and would, subject to 
exceptions, proscribe other activities or conduct in connection with immigration enforcement by 
law enforcement agencies.   SB 54 further requires the Attorney General to publish model 
policies by October 1, 2018 and requires law enforcement agencies choosing to participate in a 
joint law enforcement task force to submit a report annually pertaining to task force operations to 
the Department of Justice. 

SENATE BILL 63 – NEW PARENT LEAVE ACT 

This law creates parental new leave requirements for employers with 20-49 employees. This bill 
is virtually identical to the current baby bonding rights afforded via the “California Family 
Rights Act” to employers with 50 or more employees. AB 63 requires that employers offer 
employees up to 12 weeks of unpaid, job-protected leave to bond with a new child within one 
year of the child’s birth, adoption, or foster care placement. In order to qualify, the employee 
must meet the following requirements: have worked for the employer for at least 12 months, 
have at least 1,250 hours of service the previous 12 month period; and work at a site that 
employs at least 20 employees within a 75-mile radius. The employee is entitled to utilize 
accrued vacation pay, paid sick time, or any other paid or unpaid time off during the period of 
parental leave. An employer is not required, but may provide leave simultaneously to both 
parents if both employed by that employer. 

Additionally, the law prohibits an employer from refusing an eligible employee protected family 
leave or from refusing to maintain and pay for coverage under an eligible employee’s group 
health plan. The employer cannot refuse to hire, discharge, fine, suspend, expel, or discriminate 
against an employee for exercise the rights in this act. 

Codified as Government Code section 12945.6. Effective January 1, 2018. 

SENATE BILL 285 – PROHIBITION ON DETERRING OR DISCOURAGING UNION 
MEMBERSHIP 

This law prohibits a public employer from deterring or discouraging public employees from 
becoming or remaining members of an employee organization.  
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SENATE BILL 306 – LABOR COMMISSIONER INVESTIGATIONS AND 
INJUNCTIONS  

This law expands the ability of the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement to enforce 
provisions of the Labor Code. Under existing law, an investigator must investigate and report on 
any complaints filed alleging retaliation or discrimination. This bill authorizes the division to 
commence an investigation with or without a complaint being filed when specified retaliation or 
discrimination is suspected during the course of a separate investigation. SB 306 further 
authorizes the Labor Commissioner to seek temporary or permanent injunctive relief. An 
injunction must be ordered if “reasonable cause” exists to believe a violation has occurred. This 
deviates from the prior “irreparable harm” standard. Injunctive relief does not prohibit an 
employer from disciplining or terminating an employee for conduct unrelated to the claim of 
retaliation. Employers may be subject to civil penalties of $100 per day for willfully refusing to 
comply with a final order of the Labor Commissioner. If it is the prevailing party, the 
commissioner is entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees in an enforcement action. 

The bill also authorizes the Commissioner to issue citations directing an employer to take various 
remedial actions if it has determined that an employer engaged or is engaged in retaliatory acts, 
and establishes review procedures. To contest the citation, the employer has 40 days to seek 
review in an administrative hearing before the Commissioner. If the citation stands, the employer 
then has 45 days to request review by the Court through a writ of mandate. 

If an employee brings an action, he or she is also entitled to seek injunctive relief. 

Amends Labor Code section 98.7 and adds Labor Code sections 98.74, 1102.61 and 1102.62. 
Effective January 1, 2018. 

SENATE BILL 396 – SEXUAL HARASSMENT TRAINING REQUIREMENTS 

Under current law, employers with 50 or more employees must provide supervisors with two 
hours of sexual harassment training every two years. SB 396 requires that the training now 
include components expressly addressing gender identity, gender expression, and sexual 
orientation. The training must include specific examples of this type of harassment and be 
presented by trainers with knowledge and expertise in the area. The section also requires 
employers to display a poster on transgender rights prepared by DFEH. 

Amends Government Code sections 12950, 12950.1 and Unemployment Insurance Code 
sections 14005, 14012. Effective January 1, 2018. 

ASSEMBLY BILL 46 – FAIR PAY ACT EXPANSION 

The Fair Pay Act was previously enacted to prohibit wage discrimination for private employers. 
AB 46, “The Fair Pay Act Expansion,” extends this prohibition to public employers. Meaning 
that public employers may not discriminate on the basis of gender, race, or ethnicity when it 
comes to the payment of wages. If an employee is paid a lower wage than an employee of a 
different gender, race, or ethnicity for substantially similar work, the employer must be able to 
show that specific non-discriminatory and reasonably-applied factors account for the differential. 
These factors include: seniority or merit systems; measurements of quality or quantity of 
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production; or, another “bona fide factor.” Public employers will not be subject to provisions that 
make willful violations of this section a misdemeanor. 

Amends Labor Code section 1197.5. Effective January 1, 2018.  

ASSEMBLY BILL 119 –  

This law requires state and local public employers to provide the exclusive representative access 
to new employees at new employee orientation. AB 119 defines “new employee orientation” as 
the onboarding process, whether in person, online or through other means, during which new 
employees are advised of their employment status, rights, benefits, duties and responsibilities, or 
any other employment-related matters. Further, public employers must now provide union 
representatives with not less than 10 days’ notice in advance of a new employee orientation, 
except that a shorter notice may be provided in a specific instance where there is an urgent need 
critical to the employer’s operations that was not reasonably foreseeable. Upon request of the 
employer or the exclusive representative, the parties are required to negotiate regarding the 
structure, time and manner of the access of the exclusive representative to a new employee 
orientation. The failure to reach agreement on the structure, time and manner of the access is 
subject to compulsory interest arbitration pursuant to the new law. The procedures for the 
compulsory interest arbitration are provided in the law, including the appointment process of the 
arbitrator and a cost sharing provision. 

AB 119 also requires public employers to now provide the exclusive representative with the 
name, job title, department, work location, work and home address, personal cellular telephone 
number and personal email address on file with the employer of newly hired employees within 
30 days of hire or by the first pay period of the month following hire. Additionally, public 
employers must provide this information to the exclusive representative for all employees in the 
bargaining unit at least once every 120 days, unless the parties can agree to different time frames. 

While this new law mandates that new employee information be provided to the union, the 
Public Records Act already allows public agencies to withhold the home addresses, home phone 
numbers, personal cellular telephone numbers and birthdates of all employees of a public 
agency. This new law now adds employees’ personal email addresses to this list unless the 
employee uses their personal email address to conduct public business. If an employee does use 
their personal email address to conduct public business, then such information could be 
discoverable under a Public Records Act request. As evidenced by the California Supreme 
Court’s decision in City of San Jose v. Superior Court, if public agency employers have not done 
so already, it is important to develop policies and procedures pertaining to employees’ private 
devices and email addresses used for public business. 

ASSEMBLY BILL 168 – SALARY INFORMATION  

AB 168 prohibits an employer from asking an applicant about his or her salary history, including 
compensation or benefits. This new rule applies whether the employer is acting directly though 
the applicant or through a third party such as a recruiter. An applicant may voluntarily, without 
any prompting, provide salary history. The bill requires that, upon a reasonable request, 
employers must also provide wage scale information to applicants. 

https://www.bbklaw.com/news-events/insights/2017/legal-alerts/03/e-communications-on-private-accounts-may-be-subjec
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This section applies to all employers, private and public, but these new requirements do not 
apply to salary history information disclosed to the public pursuant to federal or state law.  

Codified as Labor Code section 432.3. Effective January 1, 2018. 

ASSEMBLY BILL 450 – SANCTUARY STATE 

AB 450 prohibits employers from cooperating with federal immigration agencies, except where 
legally required. Employers are required to refuse to give Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement (ICE) agents access to non-public business or employee records absent a subpoena 
or warrant. The commissioner can fine employers up to $10,000 for violations. Furthermore, an 
employer cannot re-verify an employee’s eligibility for employment unless required by federal 
law.  

Employers are required to post notices of an inspection by an immigration agency within 72 
hours of receiving notice of the inspection. The notice must include (in the language normally 
used by the employer) the inspecting agency, date of the notice, nature of the inspection, and a 
copy of the inspection. Unless prohibited by federal law, employers must also provide impacted 
employees copies of any inspection results upon its completion.  

Creates Government Code sections 7285.1, 7285.2, and 1285.3, and Labor Code sections 90.2 
and 1019.2. Effective January 1, 2018. 

ASSEMBLY BILL 459 – PUBLIC RECORDS ACT: QUALIFIED EXEMPTION FOR 
CERTAIN LAW ENFORCEMENT RECORDINGS 

This bill adds a qualified exemption in Government Code § 6254.4.5 under the California Public 
Records Act for video and audio recordings in the possession of law enforcement agencies (e.g., 
body camera recordings), if those recordings depict a victim of domestic or sexual violence. It 
also requires that the victim or the victim’s family be granted access to a copy of the recording. It 
directs local agencies, in both: (1) the constitutional right to privacy of the person(s) depicted in 
the recording, and (2) whether the potential harm to the victim resulting from disclosure can be 
mitigated by redacting the recording to obscure portions of the imagery or distort the voices 
captured thereon.  

ASSEMBLY BILL 1008 – “BAN THE BOX”: APPLICANT’S CRIMINAL HISTORY  

This bill prohibits any employer with 5 or more employees from seeking to elicit, inquire into, or 
otherwise consider an conviction history until after a conditional offer has been made. 
Previously, only public employers were subject to these kinds of “ban the box” restrictions. The 
bill “bans the box” since it prohibits applications for employment from asking any questions that 
seek disclosure of conviction histories. 

If any employer does intend to deny an application a position solely as a result of the applicant’s 
conviction history, the employer must make and document an individualized assessment of 
whether the applicant’s conviction history has a direct and adverse relationship with the specific 
duties of the job. The employer must consider factors such as: the nature and gravity of the 
offense, time that has passed since the offense, and the nature of the position sought. Once a 
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preliminary determination is made, notice must be provided in writing to the applicant attaching 
the conviction report and the applicant must be provided an opportunity to respond. If the 
applicant responds, the employer must consider any additional information and, if the decision 
stands, the employer must provide written notice of the decision including the final 
determination, any procedures available to challenge the decision, and the right to file a 
complaint with DFEH. 

Creates Government Code section 12952 and repeal Labor Code section 432.9. Effective January 
1, 2018. 

ASSEMBLY BILL 1309 – CALPERS FINES FOR EMPLOYERS FAILING TO ENROLL 
RETIRED ANNUITANTS 

This bill allows CalPERS to assess employers a $200 fee per retired member each month for 
failure to report the hiring and payroll information of a retired member employed without 
reinstatement within 30 days after the effective date of hire, as specified. AB 1309 further 
prohibits an employer from passing those fees on to an employee.  

ASSEMBLY BILL 1455 -- PUBLIC RECORDS ACT EXEMPTION FOR LABOR 
NEGOTIATION RECORDS UNDER THE MMBA 

AB 1455 adds subdivision (p)(2) to Government Code § 6254 of the California Public Records 
Act to exempt from required disclosure any local agency records related to collective bargaining 
if those records reveal a local agency’s deliberative processes, impressions, valuations, opinions, 
recommendations, meeting minutes, research, work products, theories, strategy; or that provide 
instruction, advice, or training to employees who do not have full collective bargaining and 
representation rights under the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (MMBA). This measure brings the law 
into conformity with current exemptions for similar collective bargaining related information for 
state employees. 

ASSEMBLY BILL 1487- LIMITATIONS ON LIMITED TERM APPOINTMENTS 
UNDER CALPERS/CALSTRS 

AB 1487, adds section 20480 of the Government Code, which prohibits an out-of-class 
appointment by a CalPERS contracting agency or school employer from exceeding 960 hours 
each fiscal year. The bill defines “out-of-class appointment” to mean an appointment to an 
upgraded position or higher classification by an employer or governing board or body in a vacant 
position for a limited duration. The bill requires employers to track hours worked in these 
positions and report them to the system  (CalPERS/CalSTRS) within 30 days after the end of the 
fiscal year. The bill specifies that compensation for a limited duration position under these 
circumstances would be paid pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement or publicly available 
pay schedule. The bill requires an employer who violates this provision to make penalty 
payments to the system of three times the employee and employer contributions that would 
otherwise be paid to the system for the difference between the compensation paid for an out of 
class appointment and the compensation paid and reported to the system for the member’s 
permanent position, for the entire period or periods the member serves in an out-of-class 
appointment, and to provide reimbursement for administrative expenses.  AB 1487 will apply to 
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those on a temporary transfer if those employees are occupying a vacant position.  The law goes 
on to state that “vacant position” does not refer to a position that is temporarily available due to 
another employee’s leave of absence.  If an employee is temporarily transferred due a leave of 
absence rather than a vacancy, then employers do not need to track or report hours.   

As for when to start tracking, the law goes into effect on January 1, 2018 and requires reporting 
on a fiscal year basis.  Therefore, employers should examine the entire fiscal year 17/18, and 
determine how to handle this first year. 

ASSEMBLY BILL 1701 – SUBCONTRACTOR LIABILITY 

This bill requires general contractors taking private construction contracts to assume and be 
liable for debts of a subcontractor owed to laborers for wage claims where the liability occurred 
as a result of the original contract. The Commissioner or individuals impacted are authorized to 
bring an action to enforce this labiality. This bill applies to contracts entered after January 1, 
2018 and does not apply to work done by an employee of the state or subdivision of the State. 

Construction contractors are also facing challenges with AB 1701, which increases liability for 
unpaid wages. 

Creates Labor Code section 218.7. Effective January 1, 2018. 

ASSEMBLY BILL 2337 – NOTICE OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE RIGHTS 

Under current law, an employer is prohibited from discharging or in any manner discriminating 
or retaliating against an employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or 
stalking for taking time off work for certain purposes. This bill, passed in 2016, requires 
employers to inform each employee of that notice. The bill further required the Labor 
Commissioner to develop a form an employee may use to comply with the provisions. That 
model notice is now available on the Department of Industrial Relations’ website. Employers 
must adopt this model notice or create their own notice that is substantially similar to the model 
notice. 
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WAGE & HOUR 

SENATE BILL 3:  2018-2023 CALIFORNIA MINIMUM WAGE PHASE-IN 

Date Employers with 25 
Employees or Less 

Employers with 26 
Employees or More 

January 1, 2018 $10.50/hour $11.00/hour 

January 1, 2019 $11.00/hour $12.00/hour 

January 1, 2020 $12.00/hour $13.00/hour 

January 1, 2021 $13.00/hour $14.00/hour 

January 1, 2022 $14.00/hour $15.00/hour 

January 1, 2023 $15.00/hour 
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California exempt salary threshold for overtime pay will rise in tandem with state minimum 
wage:  

Date Employers with 25 Employees or Less 

January 1, 2018 $3,640/mo  $43,680/yr  

January 1, 2019 $3,813.33/mo  $45,760/yr  

January 1, 2020 $4,160/mo  $49,920/yr  

January 1, 2021 $4,506.67/mo  $54,080/yr  

January 1, 2022 $4,853.33/mo  $58,240/yr  

January 1, 2023 $5,200/mo  $62,400/yr  

Date Employers with 26 Employees or More 

January 1, 2018 $3,813.33/mo $45,760/yr 

January 1, 2019 $4,160/mo  $49,920/yr  

January 1, 2020 $4,506.67/mo  $54,080/yr  

January 1, 2021 $4,853.33/mo  $58,240/yr  

January 1, 2022 $5,200/mo  $62,400/yr  
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EMPLOYERS MAY NOT REQUIRE EMPLOYEES TO REMAIN “ON-CALL”  
DURING REST BREAKS 

Plaintiff security guards brought a class action against defendant ABM Security Systems (ABM).  
Plaintiffs claimed ABM did not provide them with “uninterrupted” rest periods as required by 
State law.  The applicable IWC wage order – Wage Order 4(12) – mandates that employers 
authorize 10 minutes of net rest time per four hours worked, with the rest period falling in the 
middle of each work period if practicable. 

ABM did not relieve guards of all duties during rest periods.  Guards were required to keep their 
radios and pagers on, remain vigilant, and respond when needs arose, such as escorting tenants to 
parking lots, notifying building managers of mechanical problems, and responding to emergency 
situations.  ABM argued that requiring guards to remain on-call was not the same as requiring 
them to perform work. 

The trial court ruled that ABM’s practice violated State law because the guards were subject to 
employer control during their rest periods (“an on-duty or on-call break is no break at all”), 
granted summary adjudication for plaintiffs, and awarded plaintiffs $90 million in statutory 
damages, interest and penalties.  The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court, reasoning that the 
law does not require employers to provide off-duty rest periods and simply being on-call does 
not constitute performing work.  The California Supreme Court granted review. 

The Supreme Court reversed, holding that State law required ABM to authorize off-duty rest 
periods for the guards and that requiring the guards to remain on-call did not satisfy ABM’s 
obligation to relieve the guards from employer control during rest breaks.  The Court harmonized 
the Labor Code’s prohibitions against requiring an employee to work during any meal or rest 
period with the Brinker decision on meal periods (employer must “relieve the employee of all 
duty and relinquish any employer control over the employee and how he or she spends the time”) 
and with prior DLSE advice letters stressing that rest periods must be duty-free – in concluding 
that an employer’s practice of compelling employees “to remain at the ready” during their 10-
minute rest periods violates Labor Code 226.7 and Wage Order 4(12).  Augustus v. ABM Security 
Systems, Inc. (2016) 2 Cal. 5th 257. 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR SEEKS TEMPORARY HALT IN OVERTIME RULE 
CASE 

On November 22, 2016, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas (District Court) 
issued a preliminary injunction prohibiting the Department of Labor (DOL) from enforcing its 
new overtime regulations (New Rule) that increase the salary threshold for employees to qualify 
as exempt under the white-collar exemptions.  The New Rule was scheduled to take effect on 
December 1, 2016.  Under the New Rule, employees must be paid a minimum annual salary of 
$47,476 in order to meet the salary threshold for exempt status from overtime pay 
requirements—more than doubling the previous salary level of $23,660; this salary level will 
also be adjusted automatically every three years. 

The plaintiffs in the lawsuit include a number of states and business advocacy groups.  The 
District Court issued a summary judgment order for the plaintiffs on August 31, 2017, finding 
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the New Rule violated the Congressional intent underlying the “bona fide executive, 
administrative or professional capacity” test for the overtime exemption prescribed in Section 
213(a)(1) of the FLSA.  The District Court held that the DOL did not have authority to use a 
salary-level test that effectively eliminates the duties test under Section 213(a)(1) and that the 
New Rule essentially would replace the duties test with a “salary only” test for exemption. 

On October 30, 2017, the DOL appealed the District Court’s summary judgment order to the 
U.S. Court of Appeal for the Fifth Circuit.  The DOL then filed a motion requesting the Court of 
Appeal to hold the appeal in abeyance while the DOL “undertakes further rulemaking to 
determine what the salary level should be.”  The Court of Appeal has not yet ruled on the 
motion.  State of Nevada, et al. v. United States Department of Labor, et al.; Plano Chamber of 
Commerce, et al. v. Perez, et al. (5th Cir. August 31, 2017)2017 WL 3837230 (consolidated 
cases) 

EMPLOYEES NEED NOT SHOW THAT THEY HAVE SUFFERED AN INJURY FROM 
A KNOWING AND INTENTIONAL VIOLATION OF LABOR CODE SECTION 226 IN 
ORDER TO RECOVER CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER CALIFORNIA’S PRIVATE 
ATTORNEYS GENERAL ACT 

Plaintiff Lopez brought an action solely under California’s Private Attorneys General Act 
(“PAGA”) for failing to include the last four digits of his and fellow employees’ Social Security 
numbers or alternatively their employee identification numbers on their wage statements in 
violation of Labor Code section 226(a). Section 226(a) contains strict requirements for what 
must appear on an employee’s wage statement including “the name of the employee and only the 
last four digits of his or her social security number or an employee identification number other 
than a social security number.” The employer conceded that it had failed to comply with this 
aspect of section 226(a) but moved for summary judgment on the basis that Lopez “did not suffer 
an injury from a ‘knowing and intentional’ violation of section 226.” The trial court granted the 
employer’s motion for summary judgment determining that employees have the burden of 
showing more than simply a technical violation of section 226. 

The court of appeal overturned the trial court’s grant finding that there is a distinction between 
the civil penalties recoverable through a representative action under PAGA and statutory 
penalties recoverable through a private cause of action pursuant to section 226(e)(1), which 
explicitly requires that an employee show that he or she suffered an injury “as a result of a 
knowing and intentional failure” to comply with the section’s provisions. Thus, employees can 
assert claims for civil penalties under PAGA for minor technical violations of section 226(a) 
without having to satisfy 226(e)(1)’s injury component. Lopez v. Friant (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 
773.    

NINTH CIRCUIT DECISION IN FLORES V. SAN GABRIEL BECOMES LAW OF THE 
LAND AFTER U.S. SUPREME COURT DECLINES TO HEAR APPEAL 

The United States Supreme Court opted not to grant the City of San Gabriel’s request for an 
appeal of a 2016 decision that found that the City had been underpaying overtime to certain 
employees. Last June, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held in Flores v. City of San Gabriel 
that the City had failed to properly compensate police officers for overtime worked because it 
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had not included the value of “cash-in-lieu of benefits” payments in the calculation of either the 
employees’ regular rate of pay or their ensuing rate of overtime pay under the Fair Labor 
Standards Act (FLSA). The Ninth Circuit also concluded that because the City’s flexible benefits 
plan was not a “bona fide plan” under the FLSA, all employer contributions under the flexible 
benefits plan, including those used to pay for nontaxable benefits such as health  insurance, were 
includable in the FLSA regular rate of pay.   

While employers had hoped that the Supreme Court would agree to hear an appeal and clarify or 
reverse the Ninth Circuit’s holding, the City’s petition for writ of certiorari was denied on May 
15, 2017. This denial renders the Ninth Circuit’s decision the law of the land for the time being, 
and as such, employers should take proactive steps in order to properly classify their cash-in-lieu 
payments and make any necessary corrections, including retroactive corrections, to regular rate 
of pay and overtime calculations. City of San Gabriel v. Flores, 137 S.Ct. 2117 (May 15, 2017). 

CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT HEARS ORAL ARGUMENT ON PROPER 
METHOD FOR CALCULATING OVERTIME ON FLAT SUM BONUSES  

Best Best & Krieger LLP’s own Howard B. Golds recently argued this matter before the 
California Supreme Court on December 7, 2017. Per the Court’s Internal Operating Practices and 
Procedures, a written decision should be issued within 90 days of oral argument.   

As a refresher, this case involves a dispute over the method that California employers must use 
when calculating overtime on flat sum bonuses. Here, Plaintiff Alvarado sued his employer Dart 
Container Corp. (Dart) alleging that Dart had improperly calculated his overtime on flat $15 
bonuses that he earned by completing full shifts on weekend days. Dart calculated Alvarado’s 
overtime in accordance with the prescribed federal formula as no binding California formula 
currently exists. Alvarado claimed that Dart’s use of the federal formula was unlawful asserting 
that it does not align with California’s overarching wage and hour policy of discouraging 
overtime. He further argued that the federal formula should be permitted because it is not as 
employee-friendly as the formula set forth in the regulations of the Division of Labor Standards 
Enforcement (DLSE) Manual. Dart moved for summary judgment on the grounds that the DLSE 
regulations have no precedential value or legal effect, and, therefore, Dart was following the only 
formula that is grounded in valid law. The trial court agreed with Dart and granted its motion for 
summary judgment. The court of appeal followed suit by affirming the trial court’s finding that 
summary judgment was appropriate. The only question that remains is whether the Supreme 
Court agrees with the lower courts’ determination. Alvarado v. Dart Container Corp. (2016) 243 
Cal.App.4th 1200.  

COMPANION 4TH CIRCUIT CASES HAVE POTENTIAL TO GREATLY EXPAND 
JOINT EMPLOYER LIABILITY FOR FLSA VIOLATIONS  

The joint employment test enunciated in Hall v. DirecTV, LLC and Salinas v. Commercial 
Interiors, Inc. represents a departure from every other Circuit’s standard for determining joint 
employment. In these two decisions, the Fourth Circuit held that the key inquiry in questions 
concerning joint employment under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) is “whether two or 
more persons or entities are ‘not completely disassociated’ with respect to a worker such that the 
persons or entities share, agree to allocate responsibility for, or otherwise codetermine – formally 
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or informally, directly or indirectly – the essential terms and conditions of the worker’s 
employment.”  

Put another way, a company may be found to be a joint employer for purposes of liability for 
wage and hour violations under the FLSA of an employee of a separate entity if that company 
could in some manner influence the terms or conditions of that individual’s employment—even 
in instances where no such influence was actually exerted.  

DirecTV has petitioned the United States Supreme Court to review these decisions. The Court 
will announce its decision as to DirecTV’s request this month. Best Best & Krieger LLP jointly 
submitted an amicus curiae brief in this matter on behalf of the International Franchise 
Association, American Hotel & Lodging Association, Asian American Hotel Owners 
Association, Coalition of Franchisee Associations, and Restaurant Law Center. Hall v. DirecTV, 
LLC (4th Cir. 2017) 846 F.3d 757; Salinas v. Commercial Interiors, Inc. (4th Cir. 2017) 848 F.3d 
125.  

ASSISTANT STORE MANAGERS WERE PROPERLY CLASSIFIED AS EXEMPT 
BECAUSE THEY SPENT MORE THAN HALF OF THEIR WORKWEEK 
PERFORMING MANAGERIAL JOB DUTIES 

Plaintiff assistant store managers filed suit against their employer alleging a failure to 
compensate them for overtime on the basis that they had been misclassified as administrative or 
executive employees exempt from state and federal overtime laws. Following an extensive trial, 
the trial court found that the employer satisfied its burden of proof in establishing that the 
plaintiffs engaged in managerial tasks for more than 50% of their workweek, were paid on a 
salary basis, were paid above the minimum salary threshold, and thus were exempt employees. 
In examining whether the plaintiffs were primarily engaged in managerial functions, the trial 
court held that an employer did not have to present evidence for each relevant workweek during 
the statutory period in order to carry its burden.  

On review, the court of appeal affirmed the trial court’s findings. The appellate court emphasized 
that although an employee’s exempt status can vary from week to week because it is dependent 
upon the amount of managerial duties performed in a given workweek, courts can nevertheless 
“make reasonable inferences” regarding weeks to which no evidence is presented—especially 
when nothing in the record indicates that an employee’s tasks changed substantially from week 
to week. Batze v. Safeway (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 440.  

COMMISSION – BASED COMPENSATION PLANS MUST SEPARATELY ACCOUNT 
AND PAY FOR REST PERIODS 

Stoneledge was a retail furniture company employing sales associates under a commission pay 
plan.  Stoneledge paid the associates on a commission basis.  If an associate failed to earn 
“minimum pay” of at least $12.01 per hour in commissions in any pay period, Stoneledge paid 
the associate a “draw” against “future advanced commissions”.  The amount of the draw would 
be deducted from future commissions, but not so as to reduce the associate’s compensation to 
less than $12.01 per hour for any work week.  The commission pay plan did not provide any 
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separate compensation for non-sales time such as meetings and rest periods.  The sales associates 
clocked in and out using a time clock, but they did not clock out for rest breaks. 

Plaintiff sales associates brought a class action against Stoneledge claiming the commission pay 
plan failed to compensate them for rest periods in violation of California Labor Code section 
226.7 and IWC Wage Order No. 7.  The trial court granted summary judgement for Stoneledge, 
concluding that Wage Order No. 7 did not require Stoneledge to pay the commissioned 
associates for their rest periods and that its commission pay plan specifically accounted for all 
hours worked by the sales associates, including rest periods. 

The Court of Appeal reversed.  The Court observed that Wage Order No. 7 requires employers to 
count rest periods as hours worked “for which there shall be no deduction from wages.”  The 
Court determined that Stoneledge’s commission pay plan did not compensate for rest periods 
taken by sales associates who earned a straight commission instead of the guaranteed minimum 
draw – as those associates received the same amount of compensation regardless of whether or 
not they took rest breaks.   

The Court further determined that the draws paid to sales associates whose commissions fell at 
or below the minimum rate in a given pay period were not compensation at all, but were 
essentially interest-free loans.  The draws thus did not include compensation for rest periods 
because the associates had to pay them back.  The Court held that Stoneledge’s commission pay 
plan did not comply with California law because it failed to separately account and pay for rest 
periods.  Vaquero v. Stoneledge Furniture LLC. (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 98.

DIMINISHING “BONUS” DEVICE IN PIECE RATE PAY PLAN VIOLATES FLSA 
OVERTIME RULES 

CCI employed technicians to install to cable television and internet services for Comcast 
customers.  CCI guaranteed that its technicians earned at least the statutory minimum wage and 
paid them on a piece rate basis: a fixed rate for each piece of work (task) the technician 
completed.  CCI’s compensation plan also included a “production bonus” incentive feature, 
which essentially paid each technician 1/6 of his piece rate total for the work week.  The 
technicians’ work weeks ordinarily exceeded 40 hours, and they were routinely scheduled to 
work 6-day weeks.  For work weeks in which a technician worked overtime hours, the 
production bonus was reduced by the amount of overtime premium due on his piece rate total. 

Plaintiff technicians filed separate lawsuits against CCI in federal court alleging that the 
company’s compensation plan violated the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.  
The key issue on the overtime claim was whether CCI’s plan properly calculated the technicians’ 
regular rate of pay for overtime purposes.  The trial court granted summary judgment for CCI, 
and the plaintiffs appealed.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal reversed, holding that CCI’s pay 
plan violated the FLSA’s overtime provisions. 

The Court noted that the CCI production bonuses were not true discretionary bonuses otherwise 
excludable from the regular rate.  FLSA regulations provide that the regular rate for employees 
paid on a piece rate basis must include total earnings for the work week from piece rates and 
other sources, such as nondiscretionary production bonuses.  The Court stated that, to properly 
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calculate a technician’s regular rate for the work week, CCI was required to add the total piece 
rate earnings and the 1/6 production bonus together, then divide that sum by the total number of 
hours worked in the particular work week.  The Court found that the CCI plan did not do that.  
The production bonus formed part of the technician’s regular income in a normal, non-overtime 
week.  Subtracting the piece rate overtime premium from the production bonus amount resulted 
in the technician being paid at a reduced hourly rate during weeks when he worked overtime.  
The Court ruled that CCI’s practice established an artificially low regular rate in violation of 
FLSA regulations.  Brunozzi v. Cable Communications, Inc. (9th Cir. 2017) 851 F. 3d 990 . 

MORTGAGE UNDERWRITERS DO NOT QUALIFY AS EXEMPT ADMINISTRATIVE 
EMPLOYEES WHERE PRIMARY DUTIES RELATE TO THE LENDERS MARKET 
PLACE OFFERINGS 

Provident Savings Bank (PSB) sold mortgage loans to consumers purchasing or refinancing 
homes, then resold those funded loans on the secondary market.  PSB mortgage loan 
underwriters reviewed mortgage loan applications – using PSB, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and 
FHA guidelines – to determine borrower creditworthiness.  The underwriters could impose 
conditions on a loan applicant with management approval or suggest alternative loan products to 
applicants who failed to qualify under the pertinent guidelines.  Plaintiff underwriters were PSB 
employees.  They filed a class action against PSB for overtime compensation under  the Fair 
Labor Standard Act.  PSB contended that the underwriters were not entitled to overtime because 
they qualified for the “administrative” exemption to federal overtime requirements.  The lower 
court granted summary judgment for PSB, concluding that the underwriters primarily performed 
“quality control” administrative or similar functions directly related to PSB’s general business 
operations. 

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal reversed.  The Court reviewed the Department of Labor’s 
“short duties test” for the administrative exemption.  To merit exempt status, the underwriters (1) 
must have been compensated not less than $455 per week, (2) must have performed as their 
primary duties office or non-manual work related to the management or general operations of the 
employer or its customers, and (3) must have had as their primary duties the exercise of 
discretion and independent judgement with respect to matters of significance. 

In this case, the underwriters easily met the salary requirement, and the Court focused on the 
“primary duties” elements of the exemption.  The Court noted that the thrust of element (2) was 
that the employee’s primary duty was administering the business affairs of the enterprise, as 
opposed to producing the goods or services that the enterprise existed to produce and market 
(sometimes referred to as the “administrative-production dichotomy”).  Hence, the Court 
reasoned that the underwriters did not decide if PSB should take on risk in determining its own 
business interests; rather, the underwriters were told what was in PSB’s best interest and then 
asked to ensure that the mortgage loan products being sold were within criteria set by others.  
Consequently, the Court concluded that the underwriters were more appropriately deemed 
employees responsible for production rather than administrators who “manage, guide and 
administer” PSB’s business and thus were entitled to overtime pay under the FSLA.  McKeen-
Chaplin v. Provident Savings Bank, FSB (9th Cir. 2017) 862 F. 3d 847. 
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FLSA RETALIATION PROHIBITION APPLIES TO “ANY PERSON” AND NOT JUST 
TO AN EMPLOYER 

Plaintiff Arias began working as a milker for Angelo Dairy, a small, family owned and operated 
company, in 1995.  When they hired plaintiff, they did not complete or file the required I-9 form 
regarding his employment eligibility in the U.S.  Instead, the Angelos allegedly used the threat of 
reporting his non-compliant immigration status as a sort of “weapon” to cause him to forego 
other employment and stay with them.  Plaintiff sued in 2006 for a variety of workplace 
violations, including failure to provide overtime pay, rest breaks or meal periods, as well as for 
unfair competition violations of Business & Professions Code section 17200.  Following an 
extended period of procedural machinations, the case was set for trial in state court in August 
2011.  But on June 1, 2011, the Angelos attorney (Raimondo) “set in motion an underhanded 
plan to derail Arias’ lawsuit.”  Emails with a Homeland Security Employee show that Raimondo 
contacted U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement to encourage them to take Arias into 
custody and deport him, and he sought to block California Rural Legal Assistance attorneys from 
representing Arias.  The threat of deportation (his own and his family’s) apparently motivated 
Arias to settle his claims against the Angelos a month prior to trial.   

In May 2013, Arias sued Angelo Dairy, the Angelos, and Raimondo in federal court alleging 
violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act.  His claim against Raimondo was framed as 
retaliation in violation of 29 U.S.C. 215(a)(3).  The district court granted Raimondo’s 12(b)6) 
motion to dismiss because there were no allegations that Raimondo exercised any control over 
Arias’ employment relationship, and thus Raimondo was not an “employer” subject to the 
retaliation prohibition of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).   

The Ninth Circuit reversed.  The panel held that, unlike the FLSA’s  wage and hour provisions, 
its retaliation provisions apply to “any person” and do not require that a defendant be the 
plaintiff’s employer. The panel remanded the case to the district court for further proceedings.  
Arias v. Raimondo, 860 F.3d 1185 (9th Cir. 2017) 
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HARASSMENT, RETALIATION AND DISCRIMINATION 

EXECUTIVE’S STEREOTYPICAL VIEW OF GAY MEN AND HIS STRONG GENDER 
IDENTITY EXPRESSION OPINIONS CREATED DISPUTED ISSUE OF FACT AS TO 
WHETHER PLAINTIFF WAS VIEWED AS “TOO GAY” AND THUS WHETHER 
DISCRIMINATORY BIAS WAS A SUBSTANTIAL MOTIVATING FACTOR IN HIS 
TERMINATION 

Husman was an out, gay male who was a 14-year employee of various Toyota divisions at its 
southern California Torrance campus.  He ran the Company’s diversity and inclusion program 
and reputedly excellent at the important components of the job (Toyota won a number of 
diversity awards), receiving “very good” ratings on his annual performance reviews from his 
supervisor, Borst.  Borst promoted Husman to an executive-level position as the manager of 
corporate social responsibility, a position encompassing diversity and inclusion, as well as 
corporate philanthropy.  His new supervisors – Bybee and Pelliccioni - had known him for over a 
decade, knew he identified as gay, and did not express any concern about his promotion into the 
new position with them.  Bybee became concerned a few months later about Husman’s frequent 
absences from the office and “lax management” of his team, and she counseled him to be in the 
office more.  Soon after, Bybee learned of several complaints about comments Husman had 
allegedly made to his coworkers (touching on gender, pregnancy, and political affiliation issues). 

An investigation corroborated the allegations, and Bybee informed Husman he would receive a 
written warning, certain reduced performance ratings, and (as a result) a slightly lower bonus.  
Husman reacted badly and became increasingly uncooperative with Bybee, as well as with 
Pelliccioni, when Pelliccioni stood by the discipline and offered him executive coaching to assist 
in meeting their expectations.  Husman complained that other Toyota executives had not been 
disciplined for comments he believed were far worse, and he was particularly critical of what he 
viewed as Toyota’s insufficient support of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender (LGBT) 
employees and events.  Bybee became increasingly frustrated with Husman’s insubordination 
and lack of progress on assigned projects, as well as his continued frequent absences from the 
office and avoiding meetings with her.  In September 2011, Husman failed to attend two one-on-
one meeting with her and resisted attending an executive conference that month, and he made 
comments critical of other executives who scored lower than he on a cultural literacy assessment 
given by a consultant Toyota had engaged.  Bybee and Borst viewed this as the last straw, and 
Borst asked Pelliccioni to prepare a generous separation package to allow Husman to leave with 
dignity.  Bybee told Husman he was being terminated for “excluding the majority” and focusing 
too much on LGBT issues.  His corporate philanthropy duties were subsequently assigned to a 
straight male employee, while the diversity/inclusion tasks were staffed by a gay male employee.  
Husman sued for sexual orientation discrimination and retaliation under the Fair Employment 
Housing Act, and Toyota successfully moved for summary judgment on all claims. 

The appellate court affirmed summary judgment for Toyota on the retaliation claim, holding that 
Husman had not demonstrated protected conduct in the two instances he alleged: (1) his 
complaint that Pelliccioni had refused to include AIDS Walk LA on the list of automatic payroll 
deductions (rejected because only national organizations were on the list); and (2) his complaint 
to the Diversity Advisory Board that while “Toyota’s LGBT employees had made some 
progress, there was still work to be done” (deemed a mere exhortation to strive for additional 
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improvement).  However, the court reversed summary judgment on the discrimination claims, 
holding that Husman had proffered evidence that discrimination was a substantial motivating 
factor for his discharge, and he had not waived his “mixed motive” theory by not arguing it in 
the motion for summary judgement papers below.  The court rejected Toyota’s reliance on the 
“same actor” defense (Borst being the same actor that promoted and later terminated Husman) in 
light of the “cat’s paw” evidence of Pelliccioni’s participation in the termination decision.  
Pelliccioni had stated Husman made “a very clear statement” about his sexual orientation and 
ridiculed him for wearing a scarf as an accessory when it was not cold outside.  Husman argued 
this evidence created a triable issue of fact that Pelliccioni viewed him as “too gay” (even if a 
less obviously gay employee would be acceptable), and that anti-gay bias was at least a factor in 
the termination decision input Pelliccioni offered.  Husman v. Toyota Motor Credit Corp. (2017) 
12 Cal App. 5th 1168.  

EMPLOYER’S ON-DUTY RESPONSE TO OFF-DUTY MISCONDUCT CAN ITSELF 
CREATE HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT 

Plaintiff Cynthia Fuller was a probation and parole officer who began an intimate relationship 
with co-worker Herbt Cruz, a senior probation officer.  (Both kept the relationship secret despite 
an agency policy requiring disclosure of such relationships.)  Six months later, Cruz was placed 
on administrative leave due to a confidential investigation into a rape allegation against him by a 
civilian.  District Manager Harvey called a staff meeting, advising the employees that Cruz was 
on administrative leave because of a confidential, ongoing investigation and “was not authorized 
to be on the premises,” but that the IDOC looked forward to Cruz’ prompt return to work.  The 
next day, Fuller disclosed her relationship with Cruz to her supervisors.  Over the next two 
weeks, according to Fuller, Cruz raped her three times, all outside the workplace.  Fuller reported 
the rapes to the authorities and to IDOC, which received photographic evidence of her injuries, 
which were serious.  Harvey told Fuller that Cruz “had a history of that kind of behavior.”  Fuller 
got a protective order against Cruz prohibiting him from coming within 1000 feet of her.    

Henry Atencio, Deputy Chief of their division, directed Harvey to maintain contact with Cruz 
while he was on leave, to keep him informed of the investigation’s status and “make sure he’s 
doing okay in terms of still being our employee.”  Fuller knew about Cruz’ continued contacts 
with supervisors while on leave.  On the day Fuller obtained the civil protection order, Harvey 
sent an e-mail to all staff, including Fuller, saying he had talked to Cruz, that Cruz was 
understandably down, and that if they “wanted to talk to him, give him some encouragement,” 
they should “feel free.”  Following an internal affairs investigation, the agency concluded it 
would terminate Cruz’ employment, but it waited 2 months (as the criminal matter was 
proceeding) to notify Cruz and did not tell Fuller that Cruz would not be returning to the work 
place. 

Fuller had gone on leave after reporting the rapes to management.  Harvey told Atencio and 
Fuller’s direct supervisors about her allegations, that she was on leave, and that if others inquired 
about the leave they should attribute it to a previously disclosed illness.  Fuller was denied her 
requested paid administrative leave, and during the FMLA leave she was required to use 
vacation and other accrued leaves.  Although she was diagnosed with extreme anxiety, she 
returned to work in a light duty capacity, taking only intermittent FMLA leave.  Fuller later 
requested paid leave again, noting that (1) Cruz was being paid during his administrative leave; 
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(2) she had “received no guidance from the IDOC regarding any assistance . . . as a victim, 
including” filing a sexual harassment claim; and (3) the IDOC had put other “potential victim[s]” 
at risk by failing to disclose to staff why Cruz was on leave and by stating that it “hopes he 
returns soon.” The IDOC did not respond to her letter.  Her request was denied, according to the 
supervisors, because her situation was not deemed “unusual.”  

Fuller also told her supervisors she was in an “uncomfortable work environment”.  Staff, 
unaware of why she had been absent from work, suspected that she was “faking being sick” and 
ostracized her because they had been misled about Cruz’ situation.  Harvey explained that he was 
“not at liberty to say why [Cruz is on leave] because . . . that wouldn’t be fair. . . if the 
allegations were proven untrue,” and Cruz would have a “stigma hanging over [him].” Fuller 
said Harvey’s later encouragement of staff to give Cruz “moral support,” despite knowing that 
she had accused him of rape, was “completely insulting.”  Harvey replied that he was “trying to 
keep [her] out of it.”  Fuller asked that the IDOC inform District 3 employees of the civil 
protection order, explaining that she did not “feel safe” because Cruz could walk in to the 
building and no one would call the police.  Atencio responded that, “as much as you find this 
distasteful, Cruz is still our employee.  And we have to be conscious of his rights.”  

Fuller resigned and sued, inter alia, for hostile work environment and gender discrimination 
claim under Title VII.  The district court granted the defendants’ motion for summary judgment, 
rejecting Fuller’s hostile work environment claim on the grounds that the rapes occurred outside 
the workplace and that the IDOC had taken remedial action.  Fuller timely appealed and argued 
that the IDOC’s reactions to the rapes — effectively punishing her for taking time off, while both 
vocally and financially supporting her rapist — created a hostile work environment.  The issue 
on appeal was whether an objective, reasonable woman would find “her work environment had 
been altered” because the employer “condoned” the rape “and its effects.” 

Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Fuller, the court held that Fuller had raised 
triable issues of fact as to the existence of a hostile work environment.  In light of the severity of 
the sexual assaults on Fuller, documented by the photographs seen by the IDOC supervisors, a 
reasonable juror could find that the agency’s public and internal endorsements of Cruz “ma[de] it 
more difficult for [Fuller] to do her job, to take pride in her work, and to desire to stay in her 
position.”  A reasonable woman in Fuller’s circumstances could perceive the repeated statements 
of concern for Cruz’ well-being by supervisors as evincing their belief that Fuller was lying or, 
perhaps worse, as valuing Cruz’ reputation and job over her safety.  This conclusion is reinforced 
by the fact that Harvey and Atencio held important supervisory positions.  The court stated that 
Fuller “was victimized by three violent rapes,” and a reasonable juror could find that her 
employer thereafter reacted in ways that “allowed the effects of the rape[s] to permeate [her] 
work environment and alter it irrevocably.  Fuller v. Idaho Dep’t of Corrections (9th Cir. 2017) 
865 F.3d 1154. 

FEHA’S ONE-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS RUNS FROM DATE 
EMPLOYMENT TERMINATES RATHER THAN DATE OF DECISION TO 
TERMINATE 

Plaintiff Guillermo Aviles-Rodriguez was employed by Los Angeles Community College 
District (LACCD) as a professor.  On November 21, 2013, a tenure review committee voted to 
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deny him tenure, and he received written notice on March 5, 2014.  Before receiving notice of 
the final decision, plaintiff initiated a grievance procedure, the third and final step of which was 
denied by a grievance review committee on May 21, 2014.  That same month, plaintiff allegedly 
contacted the Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) to discuss the filing of a 
claim alleging racial discrimination including, but not limited to, the denial of tenure, and was 
advised that he had until one year from the last day of his employment to file a complaint with 
the DFEH.  Plaintiff’s employment terminated June 30, 2014, the last day of the academic year, 
and on June 29, 2015, he filed his complaint with DFEH.  After being issued a right-to-sue letter, 
he filed an action against LACCD.  Following several demurrers, plaintiff filed his third 
amended complaint (TAC) alleging a single cause of action under FEHA for racial 
discrimination.  LACCD demurred to the TAC, arguing that plaintiff’s claim was barred because 
he failed to file his DFEH complaint within one year “from the date upon which the alleged 
unlawful practice . . . occurred.”  (Gov’t Code § 12960(d).)  The trial court sustained the 
demurrer without leave to amend.   

The appellate court reversed, concluding that the one-year limitations period for plaintiff to file a 
timely DFEH complaint began to run from the last day of his employment rather than from the 
decision to deny tenure.  The court cited Romano v. Rockwell Internat’l, Inc. (1996) 14 Cal.4th 
479, where the California Supreme Court concluded that the purpose of the FEHA is better 
served by interpreting the statute of limitations on a wrongful termination claim to run from “the 
date of actual termination, and not from notification of termination.”  Here, assuming the denial 
of tenure was discriminatory, the harm resulting from that wrongful act was the termination of 
appellant’s employment. Aviles-Rodriguez v. Los Angeles Community College Dist. (2017) 14 
Cal.App.5th 479.  

FEHA DOES NOT ENTITLE EMPLOYEE TO CHOICE OF ACCOMMODATIONS SO 
LONG AS ACCOMMODATION OFFERED IS REASONABLE 

Light worked as a seasonal Park Aide at the Department’s Ocotillo Wells District in San Diego 
County.  She was “laid off” during the summer months (July through September), which 
constitute the low tourist season due to the summer desert heat.  In the fall, Light was rehired as 
a senior seasonal Park Aide.  In January 2011, Light was promoted to a permanent but 
“intermittent” position as an Office Assistant, also at the Ocotillo Wells District.  “Intermittent” 
meant she was not guaranteed full-time, regular hours, and that under normal circumstances, she 
was limited to a total of 1500 working hours per year.  She was “laid off” again during the low 
summer months of 2011. 

In the fall 2011 and spring 2012, Light worked in two different out-of-class assignments granted 
by her supervisor, Seals.  Light was friends with a coworker, Hurley, who Seals believed was a 
lesbian.  Seals repeatedly made comments to Light intended to make her uncomfortable about 
her friendship with Hurley, to enlist Light in Seals’ harassment of Hurley based on her sexual 
orientation, and to encourage Light to cease all contact with Hurley.  Hurley filed complaints 
against Seals and the Department for harassment and discrimination.  The Department’s Human 
Rights Office sent investigators to the Ocotillo Wells District in January 2012 to assess Hurley’s 
allegations.  Before Light met with investigators, Seals told Light she and Dolinar (Seals’ 
supervisor and friend) expected Light and other employees to lie to the investigators.  Light was 
expected to be on Dolinar’s “team” and protect her supervisors.  Seals said, “If you’re not on 
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[Dolinar’s] team, your career will be over.  If you don’t protect [Dolinar], [and Dolinar’s] staff, 
then your career will be over.  [Dolinar] will see to it that your career will be over.”  (Seals went 
to another employee, Gravett, and told her to lie as well.)  After Light met with the investigators, 
Seals contacted Light (and Gravett) about their interviews, wanted to know what they had said, 
and berated Light for not backing Seals.  Seals said she should not have hired Light or given her 
out-of-class assignments.  Light did not “fit in” and did not follow orders.  Light tried to leave 
Seals’ office, but Seals blocked her way.  The next day, Seals spoke with Gravett and 
complained that Light had betrayed her and “knif[ed] her in the back” because she would not tell 
Seals what she told the investigators.  Later Seals called Gravett and told her not to have any 
contact with Light.  Dolinar was in the car with Seals during this conversation.  In March 2012, 
Dolinar told Light she would not be receiving training previously scheduled for her.  Around the 
same time frame, funding for Light’s position was eliminated by the Department, and after she 
did not receive a promotion for which she applied, she was informed that no hours would be 
scheduled for her until funding could be restored.   

Light filed a workers’ compensation claim and went on medical leave for three months, after 
which she notified the Department that she had been diagnosed with PTSD and anxiety 
disorders.  She requested to return to work in a higher level position (i.e., one that would 
otherwise require promotion) or to Ocotillo Wells only if the Department guaranteed no further 
hostile work environment or retaliation.  The Department offered her a choice of two Office 
Assistant positions: one at Ocotillo Wells (where the former supervisors were gone, but where 
hours were still not guaranteed), or (2) one at San Diego District (for which, if she accepted, the 
Department would pay her reasonable moving expenses.)  She returned to work at Ocotillo 
Wells, but later sued the Department, Seals, and Dolinar.  The trial court granted the individual 
defendants’ motions for summary judgment as to Light’s intentional infliction of emotional 
distress and related claims, and granted summary judgment for the Department as to claims for 
disability discrimination (failure to accommodate), retaliation, and failure to prevent 
discrimination or retaliation.  

On appeal, the court concluded that the evidence viewed most favorably to Light did raise a 
triable issue of fact as to the alleged retaliatory “course of conduct” by Seals and Dolinar, and it 
reversed summary judgment against the Department on that claim accordingly.  However, it 
affirmed as to the disability-related retaliation claim because the alleged adverse actions occurred 
before she disclosed a disability to the Department.  It also affirmed as to the failure to 
accommodate and failure to prevent discrimination claims, finding that the Department 
reasonably accommodated Light in offering her the choice of two positions in a classification she 
previously held.  The court explained that Light was not entitled to her choice of 
accommodations so long as what was offered was reasonable, and that she was not entitled to a 
promotion.  Finally, the court as to the IIED claim against Seals that “workers’ compensation 
exclusivity” does not bar tort claims arising out of conduct that also violates FEHA.  Light v. 
California Dep’t of Parks & Rec. (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 75. 

FEHA ALLOWS EMPLOYEES TO SUE EMPLOYERS FOR SEXUAL HARASSMENT 
BY NONEMPLOYEES 

M.F. was employed as a housekeeper at a hotel owned by Pacific Pearl Hotel Management LLC.  
The hotel’s engineering manager saw a trespasser on the hotel property one morning who was 
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not a guest of the hotel. The trespasser was intoxicated and was carrying a beer, but the 
engineering manager did not tell him to leave or report his presence to the housekeeping staff. 
Later, the trespasser approached one of the housekeepers while she was cleaning a room and 
tried to give her money in exchange for sexual favors. A maintenance worker who was working 
nearby overheard and helped the housekeeper to make the trespasser leave the room. The 
trespasser then went to another hotel room where a housekeeper was cleaning and tried to get 
into the room. He again offered money for sexual favors. The housekeeper was able to close the 
door on the man and reported the incident to her manager.  The housekeeping manager used a 
walkie-talkie to notify the other housekeeping managers about the trespasser. The manager 
checked on the safety of the housekeepers in one building but not in the one in which M.F. was 
working. M.F.’s supervisor checked the rooms on one floor but not on the floor in which M.F. 
was working. The trespasser forced his way into the room that M.F. was working and told her to 
close the blinds. She refused, and he punched her in the face, knocking her unconscious. He then 
raped and abused her for two hours. During that time, no one came to check on her whereabouts.  

M.F. filed a lawsuit under against Pacific, alleging nonemployee sexual harassment and failure to 
prevent the harassment from occurring.  In response to a motion filed by Pacific, the trial court 
dismissed the lawsuit.  M.F. appealed the dismissal.   

The Court of Appeal ruled in favor of M.F., finding that her complaint alleged sufficient facts to 
state a cause of action under the Fair Employment and Housing Act for nonemployee sexual 
harassment and for Pacific’s failure to stop the conduct from occurring, and remanded the case to 
the trial court to commence proceedings that were consistent with its ruling.  

Under the FEHA, employers may be liable to employees for sexual harassment by nonemployees 
if the employers knew or should have known about the conduct and failed to take corrective 
action immediately. The court noted that M.F. established that the trespasser had been seen by 
the engineering manager and had harassed several housekeepers before she was assaulted.  
M.F.’s supervisor failed to check on her safety or to try to find out where she was despite 
knowing that the trespasser had sexually harassed other housekeepers. Pacific argued that she 
failed to state a claim under the FEHA because it did not have notice of the trespasser’s conduct 
before he or she entered the property and that it took corrective action immediately upon learning 
of his conduct towards the other housekeepers. The court found, however, that Pacific had 
sufficient notice of the trespasser’s conduct from his earlier actions and the reports that were 
made by the other housekeepers. The court determined that whether or not the hotel’s corrective 
actions were sufficient would be a question of fact and thus should be considered by a jury.  M.F. 
v. Pacific Peal Hotel Management LLC (2017) 16 Cal.App.5th 693, review filed (Dec. 5, 2017). 

PREVAILING SUPERVISOR DEFENDANT MUST SHOW ACTION WAS 
FRIVOLOUS IN ORDER TO RECOVER ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

Plaintiff Elisa Lopez sued her employer, the City of Beverly Hills, and her supervisor, Gregory 
Routt, alleging harassment and violation of the Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA).  A 
jury found in favor of the City and Routt.  Routt, as the prevailing party, moved for attorneys’ 
fees under FEHA’s fee shifting provision.  The trial court denied  the motion, concluding that a 
prevailing defendant cannot recover attorneys’ fees unless he established that the underlying 
claim was frivolous, and that Routt had failed to make such showing.  Routt appealed, arguing 
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that the frivolous standard should not apply to a fee request by a supervising employee who has 
been sued as an individual defendant.   

The Court of Appeal affirmed the decision of the trial court.  Based on California Supreme Court 
precedent and legislative history, the court held that the frivolousness standard applicable to a 
defendant's request for prevailing party attorney fees under FEHA, requiring defendant to show 
that plaintiff brought or continued litigating the action without an objective basis for believing it 
had potential merit, applies not only to an employer defendant but also to an individual coworker 
defendant in a harassment case.  Lopez v. Routt (2017) 17 Cal.App.5th 1006. 

EMPLOYER MUST NOT ONLY RESPOND TO HARASSMENT AND 
DISCRIMINATION COMPLAINTS, BUT MUST ALSO TAKE EFFECTIVE 
REMEDIAL MEASURES   

Efrain Reynaga (“Efrain”) and his son Richard Reynaga worked as millwrights for Roseburg 
Forest Products (“Roseburg”), and were the only millwrights of Mexican descent.  Efrain alleged 
that during the course of his employment, he was subjected to continual disparate treatment and a 
hostile work environment because of his race or national origin by the lead millwright, Timothy 
Branaugh (“Branaugh”).  When Efrain complained, Roseburg first investigated and then hired an 
outside company to investigate the claims. Efrain cited multiple specific instances of Branaugh’s 
harassing conduct and racially derogatory comments, disparate treatment and retaliation.  
Roseburg agreed to rearrange Efrain’s and Branaugh’s work schedules, but on multiple 
occasions thereafter they were still scheduled to work together.  On one such occasion Efrain left 
the premises, refusing to work with Branaugh.  Efrain’s employment was terminated a few days 
later. 

Efrain filed a complaint in federal district court alleging claims for hostile work environment, 
disparate treatment and retaliation under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 
of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e (“Title VII”), as well as a claim under Oregon state law for disparate 
treatment and hostile work environment. The district court granted Roseburg’s motion for 
summary judgment, and Efrain appealed. 

The Court of Appeal reversed and remanded for a trial on Efrain’s claims of hostile work 
environment, disparate treatment, and retaliation. The court held that a reasonable trier of fact 
could conclude that (1) Branaugh’s conduct was sufficiently severe or pervasive to create a 
hostile work environment; and (2) Roseburg knew about Branaugh’s misconduct and failed to 
take effective remedial action. As to Efrain’s disparate treatment claim, it held that Efrain had 
demonstrated the necessary prima facie case to survive summary judgment based on (1) 
Roseburg terminating Efrain’s employment and (2) breaking into Efrain’s locker on one occasion 
where the company was conducting a drug search (although the company did not break into the 
locker of a white millworker even though a drug sniffing dog altered to the white employee’s 
locker). It further held that there was a genuine dispute of fact as to Roseburg’s discriminatory 
intent regarding those challenged actions. Finally, as to Efrain’s retaliatory termination claim, it 
held that a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that Roseburg’s proffered reason for 
terminating Efrain was pretextual. 
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The court noted that Roseburg may have acted promptly in investigating Efrain’s complaints, but 
prompt action is not enough. The remedial measures must also be effective. When the employer 
undertakes no remedy, or where the remedy does not end the current harassment and deter future 
harassment, an employer will be liable for both the past harassment and any future harassment.  
The court found that there was disparate treatment since two non-hispanic employees were 
treated better than Efrain. Branaugh was hardly reprimanded despite repeated complaints. 
Efrain’s locker lock was cut during a drug investigation, while others were not. Also, Efrain was 
terminated.   The court found the timing of his termination and the evidence that he was treated 
less favorably than other employees outside of the protected class were sufficient to establish a 
genuine dispute of fact as to whether Roseburg’s proffered reason for terminating Efrain’s 
employment was pretextual.  Reynaga v. Roseburg Forest Prod. (9th Cir. 2017) 847 F.3d 678. 

MARITAL STATUS DISCRIMINATION CLAIM FAILS AS FORMER EMPLOYEE 
CLAIMED HE WAS TERMINATED NOT BECAUSE HE WAS MARRIED, BUT 
BECAUSE HE WAS MARRIED TO THE CEO’S DAUGHTER 

Plaintiff Orlando Nakai, was employed by defendant Friendship House Association of American 
Indians, Inc. (“Friendship House”), a drug and alcohol rehabilitation program.  Nakai’s wife 
informed Friendship House’s CEO that Orlando had a gun, was angry at Friendship House 
employees, relapsed to using drugs and alcohol and that she had a restraining order against him.  
Based thereon, the CEO terminated Nakai’s employment.  The CEO also happened to be Nakai’s 
mother-in-law.   

Nakai sued, alleging wrongful termination based upon marital status discrimination and failure to 
conduct a reasonable investigation upon the report of an alleged threat.  The trial court granted 
Friendship House’s motion for summary judgment and Nakai appealed.  

The appellate court held that Nakai failed to establish a prima facie case of marital 
discrimination.  While laws prohibiting marital status discrimination are meant to prevent 
discrimination against classes of people, they do not extend to the status of being married to a 
particular person.  The court further noted that Nakai claimed he was treated differently not 
because he was married, but because he happened to be married to the CEO’s daughter, which 
does not constitute marital discrimination.  Finally, Nakai was married to the CEO’s daughter for 
14 years; if marital status were an issue, Nakai would have been terminated earlier.  

The appellate court also noted that Nakai’s own allegations, namely that his wife informed the 
CEO that Nakai had a gun, was angry at Friendship House employees, relapsed to using drugs 
and alcohol and that she had a restraining order against him, constituted legitimate, non-
discriminatory business reasons to terminate Nakai’s employment.  Nakai had no evidence of 
pretext. 

The appellate court further held that it did not have any duty to investigate before discharging 
Nakai because he was an at-will employee with no contractual rights to employment.  Friendship 
House could legally discharge Nakai for any reason, so long as it was not a prohibited 
discriminatory reason.  Nakai v. Friendship House Ass'n of Am. Indians, Inc. (2017) 15 Cal.App. 
5th 32. 
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ARGUMENT THAT AN EMPLOYER’S DECISION WAS BASED UPON THE RACE 
OF A THIRD PARTY WAS IMPROPER AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN 
CONSIDERED WHEN DETERMINING WHETHER RACE DISCRIMINATION 
OCCURRED  

Two Hispanic police officers brought action against the City of Los Angeles, alleging they 
suffered race discrimination within the city police department following their involvement in 
fatal shooting of young, unarmed African-American civilian who was apparently autistic.  They 
claim they were “benched” after the incident, resulting in lost promotional opportunities and off-
work duty, because of their race.  They also claimed that the city retaliated against them for 
filing the lawsuit.  The jury found in favor of the officers and awarded nearly $4 million in 
damages. The City appealed, arguing that the evidence is not sufficient to support the verdict.  

The appellate court reversed the jury’s verdict because the officers’ claims were based on an 
improper legal theory. The officers claimed that they suffered disparate treatment because they 
are Hispanic and the victim was African-American. Thus, the officers’ theory was that the jury 
could and should consider whether the officers were treated differently, not simply because of 
their race, but because of the race of their victim. 

The appellate court held that this theory does not support the discrimination claim that the 
officers brought. In deciding whether to return the officers to the field, the City could assess the 
political implications of doing so without violating employment discrimination laws. Those laws 
would not permit the City to treat the officers differently because they are Hispanic, but they did 
not prohibit the City from reaching any decision based on race.  The City assessed the risk 
management implications of returning officers of any race to the streets of Los Angeles who had 
been involved in a fatal shooting of an innocent, unarmed and autistic African-American man, 
and doing so did not result in race discrimination in violation of the Fair Employment and 
Housing Act.  While the officers claimed that African-American officers would have been 
treated differently, but they did not introduce any competent evidence to support that claim.   

The officers also did not provide evidence sufficient to support their claim that the City retaliated 
against them for filing the lawsuit. The City provided evidence—which was supported in 
important respects by the officers’ own evidence and argument—that the officers were 
“benched” because of the political sensitivity of the shooting in which they were involved and 
the possible devastating consequences to the City if they were to be involved in a future 
controversial incident. The fact that the “benching” continued, even for the five-year period that 
the officers identify as unusual, is fully consistent with that justification and cannot itself support 
a conclusion that the City’s motives changed after the lawsuit was filed.  Diego v. City of Los 
Angeles (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 338. 

INTERNAL INVESTIGATION CONCLUDING THAT MANAGER RETALIATED 
AGAINST SUBORDINATE ESTABLISHED GOOD CAUSE FOR TERMINATION, 
OVERCOMING MANAGER’S CLAIM OF IMPLIED CONTRACT NOT TO 
TERMINATE WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE 

Steve Jameson sued Pacific Gas and Electric Company (“PG&E”) for wrongful termination and 
breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, claiming that he was terminated without 
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cause in violation of an implied employment contract.  PG&E filed a motion for summary 
judgment on the grounds that Jameson was an at-will employee, which the trial court granted.  
Jameson appealed. 

The court of appeal affirmed the trial court’s ruling, holding that regardless of whether Jameson 
was an at-will employee, PG&E established that it had good cause to terminate him.  
Specifically, PG&E established that Jameson, a supervisor, was terminated because a 
subordinate employee filed a complaint of retaliation against Jameson after the employee made a 
safety-related complaint. PG&E directed its legal counsel to conduct a workplace investigation 
of this complaint.  Following a thorough investigation, the attorney investigator concluded that 
the evidence reflects that Jameson engaged in retaliatory conduct.  Based thereon, PG&E 
terminated Jameson’s employment. Jameson v. Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. (2017) 16 Cal.App.5th 
901.) 

DISABILITY/FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE 

FORGIVING PAST MISCONDUCT IS NOT A REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION 

Antonio Alamillo worked as a locomotive engineer for BNSF Railway Company (BNSF).  
Alamillo had a choice of working a five-day schedule with regular hours or on the “extra board,” 
which requires employees to come to work only when called.  Alamillo chose the extra board 
schedule.  Under BNSF’s attendance policy, five missed calls during any twelve-month period 
“may result in dismissal.”  Alamillo missed a total of ten calls in a six-month period, which 
BNSF addressed in a progressive manner.  After the first three missed calls, Alamillo (at his 
request) received additional training in lieu of discipline.  After missing another four calls, 
Alamillo was suspended.  After missing three more calls, BNSF proposed termination and 
provided Alamillo with a chance to appeal.  During that process, Alamillo received a diagnosis 
of sleep apnea and advised BNSF that he had missed calls due to this condition.  BNSF did not 
change its decision and proceeded with termination.   

Alamillo then sued BNSF for disability discrimination, failure to accommodate, and failure to 
engage in the interactive process under FEHA.  The district court granted summary judgment to 
BNSF on all of these theories.  On appeal, the Ninth Circuit affirmed in all respects.  On the 
discrimination claim, the Ninth Circuit found that Alamillo’s sleep apnea was not a reason for his 
termination.  Instead, it was Alamillo’s recurrent absenteeism that lead to his termination.  While 
Alamillo contended that he missed calls due to his sleep apnea, the Ninth Circuit found that he 
could have taken other steps to ensure he reported to work on time (asking for a regular schedule, 
checking an electronic job board, setting his alarm, or providing an alternate phone number).   

On the failure to accommodate theory, Alamillo contended that BNSF should have excused his 
past misconduct once he received the sleep apnea diagnosis.  The Ninth Circuit disagreed, 
holding that exercising leniency by excusing an employee’s past misconduct is not a reasonable 
accommodation under FEHA.  Because reasonable accommodation is “always prospective, an 
employer is not required to excuse past misconduct even if it is a result of an individual’s 
disability.”  The Ninth Circuit also rejected Alamillo’s claim that BNSF failed to engage in the 
interactive process after his attendance violations had already occurred, because no reasonable 
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accommodation could have cured his prior absenteeism at that point.  Alamillo v. BNSF Railway 
Company (9th Cir. 2017) 869 F.3d 916. 

EMPLOYER POLICY OR PAST PRACTICE CAN ENTITLE EMPLOYEES TO LIGHT 
DUTY AS A REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION 

The City of Los Angeles runs a Police Academy to recruit and train new police officers.  The 
Academy is designed as a six-month course, after which successful recruits commence a 12-
month probationary period as police officers.  In 2009, five LAPD recruits were injured while at 
the Academy before completing the six-month course.  Pursuant to a policy in effect at the time 
(called the “Recycle Program”), these five recruits were assigned to light duty administrative 
work.  Recruits were allowed to remain in the Recycle Program until their injuries healed and 
they could return to the Academy or they became permanently disabled.  As a result of this 
policy, some injured recruits were allowed to remain in the Recycle Program for an indefinite 
period of time.  This policy, however, conflicted with legal requirements established by the 
Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training, which required recruits to complete their 
training and 12-month probationary period within two years.   

To comply with this legal requirement, in 2009, the City made changes to the Recycle Program 
and imposed a maximum 6-month limit for recruits to return to full-duty status and/or re-enter an 
Academy class.  The City applied this new policy to the five injured recruits in the Recycle 
Program in 2009.  When they could not immediately provide medical clearance to return to the 
Academy, the City separated all five.   

The five recruits sued the City for disability discrimination, failure to provide reasonable 
accommodation, and failure to engage in the interactive process under FEHA.  After a jury trial, 
the jury found in the recruits’ favor on all three causes of action.  In total, the jury awarded the 
recruits over $12 million in damages.  The City appealed to the Court of Appeal.   

On the discrimination claim, the Court of Appeal agreed with the City and held that the recruits 
were not “qualified individuals” because they could not perform the essential functions of a 
police recruit.  While the recruits urged the Court to evaluate whether they were qualified for the 
light duty position (as opposed to the rigorous Academy training program), the Court disagreed 
and concluded that the relevant question was whether they could perform the essential functions 
of the Academy training program.   

On the reasonable accommodation claim, the City argued that the recruits – as pre-probationary 
trainees – were not entitled to reassignment to any other position.  The Court of Appeal 
disagreed and held that the recruits were entitled to be assigned to the Recycle Program.  
Probationary employees are equally entitled to reasonable accommodations, including 
reassignment.  While the Court of Appeal noted that FEHA generally does not require indefinite 
accommodation of temporarily injured employees, the City had a longstanding practice of 
allowing injured recruits to remain in the Recycle Program indefinitely until they healed and 
could return to the Academy, or until their disabilities became permanent.  The Department 
changed this policy – to allow reassignment for no more than six months – only after the recruits 
were injured and already in the Recycle Program.  The Court of Appeal concluded that the City 
could not apply the policy change retroactively to the recruits.   
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The Court of Appeal also rejected the City’s argument that maintaining the recruits’ temporary 
assignment would have presented an undue hardship.  After describing this as an “almost 
impossible” burden, the Court of Appeal rejected the City’s argument that POST limitations 
prohibited an indefinite assignment to the Recycle Program (since the City had allowed others to 
remain in the program for longer than six months).  The Court of Appeal also rejected the City’s 
attempt to establish an economic burden.  While the City mentioned having economic challenges 
(including instituting a hiring freeze), the City failed to demonstrate that it was unable to recruit 
or hire for public safety positions.  

Finally, with respect to damages, the City argued that the award of $12 million was excessive 
because it was based on the assumption that the five recruits would have passed the Academy, 
completed their probationary periods, become career officers, and continued to work for the 
Department for their entire working lives of 25 years.  The Court of Appeal agreed with the City 
that these damages for future economic losses were too speculative and remanded the case to the 
trial court for a new trial on that particular issue.  Atkins v. City of Los Angeles (2017) 8 
Cal.App.5th 696.   

EMPLOYERS MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ESTABLISH JOB ABANDONMENT WHEN 
EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO PROTECTED LEAVE 

Leticia Bareno worked as an administrative assistant for the San Diego Community College 
District.  In early 2013, Bareno was suspended for a variety of performance problems, including 
absenteeism, incompetence, inefficiency, and neglect of duty.  On February 25, the day she was 
scheduled to return from her suspension, Bareno called her supervisor and stated that she would 
not be at work because she was sick, depressed, stressed, and would be going to the hospital for 
medical attention.  Later that evening, Bareno e-mailed her supervisor to say that she would be 
out on medical leave through March 1.  Two days later, Bareno sent her supervisor a work status 
report from her doctor confirming this information.  On March 1, Bareno e-mailed her supervisor 
a new work status report, which stated that she needed medical leave through March 8.  Her 
supervisor reportedly never received this e-mail.  On March 8, believing the District had not 
heard from Bareno, the Human Resources Department sent Bareno a letter, informing her that 
she had been terminated due to job abandonment.  The next day (not having received the 
District’s separation letter), Bareno e-mailed her supervisor another work status report, extending 
her leave through March 15.   

On March 18, after undergoing medical treatment out of town, Bareno returned home to San 
Diego and received the District’s March 8 termination letter.  She then sued the District, alleging 
retaliation in violation of the California Family Rights Act.  The District argued on summary 
judgment that Bareno (1) did not request CFRA leave, (2) did not provide sufficient certification, 
and (3) could not establish she was terminated for taking CFRA leave.  The trial court agreed 
with the District and granted summary judgment in the District’s favor.   

On appeal, the Court of Appeal reversed.  As for requesting leave, the Court of Appeal found it 
sufficient that Bareno mentioned needing leave for medical reasons.  The District may not have 
received Bareno’s March 1 e-mail, but it did know that Bareno was receiving medical treatment.  
As for the certification, if the employer found the work status report that Bareno provided 
insufficient, it should have sought a second opinion.  While the District insisted that she was 
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terminated for job abandonment (and not for requesting medical leave), the Court of Appeal 
found that the timing alone suggested a retaliatory motive sufficient to overcome a motion for 
summary judgment.  The case was remanded back to the trial court.  Bareno v. San Diego 
Community College District (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 546.   

REFUSAL TO RESCIND EMPLOYEE’S RESIGNATION NOT ADVERSE ACTION 

Ruth Featherstone worked for Southern California Permanente Medical Group.  Before and 
during her employment with the Group, Featherstone suffered from chronic sinus conditions.  In 
October 2013, Featherstone requested and was granted leave to undergo and recover from 
surgery to remove a sinus tumor.  In mid-December 2013, Featherstone returned to work without 
any work restrictions.  About ten days later, on December 23, Featherstone called her supervisor 
and informed her that she was resigning effective immediately.  Featherstone told her supervisor 
that she was resigning to “do God’s work.”  After this phone conversation, Featherstone’s 
supervisor e-mailed and asked Featherstone to confirm her resignation in writing.  A few days 
later, Featherstone responded to this e-mail and confirmed her decision to resign.  On December 
31, 2013, Featherstone informed the Group’s Human Resources Department that she was 
suffering from an adverse drug reaction and asked the Group to rescind her resignation.  
Featherstone shared that she had exhibited odd behavior at home and was hospitalized for 
treatment the day after she resigned.  After reviewing all relevant documents regarding the chain 
of events, the Group declined Featherstone’s request to rescind her resignation.   

Featherstone sued the Group for, among other things, disability discrimination, failure to 
accommodate, and failure to engage in an interactive process under FEHA.  The trial court 
granted summary judgment in the Group’s favor on all of Featherstone’s claims.  On appeal, the 
Court of Appeal affirmed.  The Court of Appeal found that the failure to allow an employee to 
rescind a voluntary resignation is not adverse action.  There was no indication that the 
resignation was coerced or that Featherstone’s working conditions were intolerable.  Nor did the 
Group have an obligation to provide any reasonable accommodation, as it had no knowledge of 
any disability.  The Group had no indication from Featherstone or otherwise that she was 
suffering from any physical or mental limitations.  Learning of a disability after employment 
decisions have already been made does not suffice.  Because Featherstone’s temporary disability 
was not open, obvious or apparent to her supervisors/managers prior to her resignation, the 
Group did not have an obligation to engage in any type of interactive process with her. 
Featherstone v. Southern California Permanente Medical Group (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 1150.   

TO BE CONSIDERED A DISABILITY, OBESITY MUST HAVE A PHYSIOLOGICAL 
CAUSE – AND EMPLOYER MUST KNOW THAT TO BE OBLIGATED TO 
ACCOMMODATE 

Ketryn Cornell is a severely obese woman who worked for the Berkeley Tennis Club for over 15 
years.  After a new General Manager was hired, Cornell stated that he made comments about her 
size (both to her and others), provided preferential shifts to non-obese employees, and paid her 
less in wages.  After Cornell filed a grievance with the Club’s personnel committee, the General 
Manager accused her of surreptitiously trying to record the Board meeting at which her 
grievance would be considered.  Cornell was ultimately fired as a result.   
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She sued for, among other claims, disability discrimination and failure to accommodate under 
FEHA.  The trial court granted the Club’s motion for summary judgment on all of Cornell’s 
claims.  Cornell appealed, and the Court of Appeal affirmed in part and reversed in part.   

As to the disability discrimination theory, the Court of Appeal confirmed that, in order for 
obesity to constitute a disability, it must be proven to have a physiological cause.  While the 
Club argued that Cornell could not sustain this burden, the Court of Appeal noted that the burden 
has been somewhat eased when the language “except in rare circumstances, obesity is not 
considered a disabling impairment” was removed from the federal regulations.  The Club could 
not point to any evidence in the record proving that there was no physiological cause for 
Cornell’s obesity.  For that reason, the Court of Appeal found that it the Club was not entitled to 
summary judgment on either the disability discrimination or harassment claims.   

As for reasonable accommodation, the Court of Appeal upheld the trial court’s summary 
judgment in the Club’s favor.  In doing so, the Court of Appeal confirmed that, when an 
employee pursues a claim based on an actual disability, the employer is required to 
accommodate only a known physical disability.  Because the Club presented evidence that it did 
not know or believe that Cornell’s obesity had a physiological cause, the Club had no obligation 
to accommodate her (or engage in the interactive process).  By contrast, had Cornell pursued a 
“regarded as” (otherwise known as a “perceived as”) theory based on her weight/obesity, the 
Club would have been obligated to engage in the interactive process and provide a reasonable 
accommodation – even if the employer had no knowledge of any underlying physiological cause.  
Cornell v. Berkeley Tennis Club 2017 WL 6524707.  [NOTE:  THIS CASE IS NOT YET 
FINAL] 

PUBLIC AGENCY 

Public Records 

E-COMMUNICATIONS ON PRIVATE ACCOUNTS MAY BE SUBJECT TO 
DISCLOSURE UNDER THE CALIFORNIA PUBLIC RECORDS ACT  

The California Supreme Court decided early in 2017 a question that has, for years, vexed courts, 
public officials, the media and citizen watchdogs: are electronic communications - emails, 
voicemails and texts - on private devices or servers subject to disclosure under the state’s 48-
year-old Public Records Act?  In a ruling that arose from litigation involving a citizen watchdog 
and the City of San Jose, the court held that such communications may be subject to disclosure 
under the Act.  The court rejected the City and other allied governmental entities and 
associations’ position that such communications should not be subject to disclosure by a public 
agency since they are not in the public agency’s possession. 

In a unanimous opinion, the court announced that it would not permit public officials to conduct 
the public’s business on private devices and place those communications beyond the PRA’s 
reach.  The court referred - several times - to a constitutional mandate to broadly interpret the 
PRA in favor of public access.  However, the court acknowledged that the Act was dated, and 
that this case “concerns how laws, originally designed to cover paper documents, apply to 
evolving methods of electronic communication.  It requires recognition that, in today’s 
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environment, not all employment-related activity occurs during a conventional workday, or in an 
employer-maintained workplace.”  The court went on to assert that what it was deciding was a 
“narrow question,” namely, whether writings concerning the conduct of public business are 
beyond the reach of the PRA merely because they were sent or received using a nongovernment 
account. The court’s answer was no, they are not. 

The City of San Jose case began with a PRA request made by Ted Smith, a private citizen. 
Among other things, Smith sought electronic communications on the private devices of San 
Jose’s then mayor, councilmembers and employees regarding a real estate development in the 
City that involved public and private money.  The City denied the request for the 
communications on the private devices asserting it did not prepare, own, use, or retain the 
communications.  Therefore, the City asserted that it could not and would not produce them 
pursuant to the PRA.  

Smith filed a lawsuit, asking the court to require the City, the former officials and employees to 
release the electronic communications. He prevailed in 2013, when a trial court judge found that 
the communications - which pertained to the public’s business - were subject to PRA disclosure 
even though they were located on a private device or server.  The City appealed, and in a 2014 
opinion, the Sixth District Court of Appeal agreed with the City.  In reversing the trial court’s 
order, the appellate court found that, because the communications were not accessible to the 
City, it had no obligation under the PRA to produce them.  The Supreme Court soon thereafter 
agreed to review the matter. 

The court applied a four-part test to determine whether these “private” communications could 
qualify as “public records” subject to the Act: “it is (1) a writing, (2) with content relating to the 
conduct of the public’s business, which is (3) prepared by, or (4) owned, used, or retained by any 
state or local agency.”  The heart of the analysis was whether the communication relates to the 
conduct of the public’s business.  Here, the court recognized that whether a writing is sufficiently 
related to public business will not always be clear. In providing practical examples, the court 
suggested that context matters.  The court explained that an email from a public employee to a 
spouse complaining “my coworker is an idiot” is likely not a public record.  However, an 
employee’s email to a manager about a co-worker’s mismanagement of an agency project might 
be.  The opinion suggested looking to the following factors: content, context, purpose, audience, 
and whether the employee was acting within the scope of employment. 

The court had no problem finding that electronic communications prepared by public agency 
officials and employees are “prepared” by the agency, since such officials and employees act on 
the agency’s behalf.  And, the court held that an agency is considered to own, use or retain such 
communications because it has constructive possession of such communications through its 
control over its own employees.  “A writing retained by a public employee conducting agency 
business has been ‘retained by’ the agency…even if the writing is retained in the employee’s 
personal account.” 

The court went on to address the serious policy considerations, which are likely of vital interest 
to public agency officials and employees.  A main concern is protecting public officials’ and 
employees’ privacy.  The court noted that any personal information contained within 
communications otherwise covered by the Act could be redacted.  The court further noted that 



- 31 - 

privacy concerns could and should be addressed on a case-by-case basis, starting with the 
statutory exemptions from disclosure contained in the Public Records Act (Government Code 
section 6254). 

The next policy issue the court addressed was how a public agency should search for agency-
related communications on private devices while protecting officials’ and employees’ privacy.  
The court opined that agencies should make a “reasonable effort” to locate records. A public 
agency is not required to launch “extraordinarily extensive or intrusive searches.”  The court 
suggested that public agencies should adopt internal policies for conducting such searches.  
When the request is for records in employees’ nongovernmental account, “an agency’s first step 
should be to communicate the request to the employees in question.”  The court concluded that 
the agency could then “reasonably rely on employees to search their own personal devices and 
accounts for responsive material.” 

The court acknowledged with approval another state’s process in which public employees who 
withhold personal records from their employer “must submit an affidavit with facts sufficient to 
show that the withheld information is not a ‘public record’” under that state’s public records law.  
The court also suggested that agencies could require employees and officials to only use 
government accounts for public business communications.  Moreover, agencies could require 
their employees to copy or forward messages relating to public business to their agency 
accounts.  The court noted, however, that no “particular search method is required or necessarily 
adequate.”  Meaning, this case will challenge agencies to develop policies and procedures to 
catch messages on private devices and accounts that relate to public business.  City of San Jose v. 
Superior Court (2017) 2 Cal.5th 608. 

COURT OF APPEAL CLARIFIES THE PITCHESS PROCESS AND DISCOVERY OF 
PEACE OFFICER PERSONNEL RECORDS  

Robert Riske, a retired Los Angeles police officer, sued the City of Los Angeles alleging that the 
Los Angeles Police Department had retaliated against him for protected whistleblower activity 
by failing to assign or promote him to several positions, instead selecting less qualified 
candidates.  In order to support his allegations, Riske filed a Pitchess motion to obtain certain 
personnel records of the officers selected for the positions to which he had applied, including the 
TEAMS reports and last two performance evaluations.   

The Pitchess process, set forth in Evidence Code sections 1043 and 1045, dictates how, when, 
and under what circumstances peace officer personnel records may be discovered.  Generally, 
information contained in a police officer’s personnel file is protected from discovery by Penal 
Code section 832.7.  In order to secure the disclosure of protected information, a party must 
make a noticed motion, known as a Pitchess motion, demonstrating good cause for production of 
the records.  If good cause is shown, a trial court or administrative hearing officer must then 
conduct an in-camera review in order to inspect the records and disclose only those parts that are 
relevant to the case.  During this process, the judge is required to exclude any information 
contained in the personnel files of little or no practical benefit, complaints over five years before 
the incident, and conclusions of investigating officers in the context of any criminal proceedings.  
If any personnel records are ordered to be disclosed after the in-camera review, the court is 
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required to enter a protective order mandating that the records disclosed or discovered may not 
be used for any purpose other than a court proceeding pursuant to the applicable law. 

In bringing his Pitchess motion, Riske argued that the personnel records he sought were 
necessary to show the City’s stated business reason for its promotion decisions, that the 
promoted officers were more qualified candidates than Riske, was a pretext for retaliation.  The 
City opposed the motion arguing that officer personnel records were not subject to discovery 
because the officers were innocent third parties who had not witnessed or caused Riske’s 
injuries.  The trial court agreed with the City and denied Riske’s motion.   

On appeal, the court reversed the trial court’s ruling and held that the discovery of peace officer 
personnel records is not limited to cases involving officers who either witnessed or committed 
misconduct.  The court reached this decision by looking at the good cause requirement in the 
initial phase of a Pitchess motion discovery request which requires a plausible factual showing of 
materiality in the dispute.  The court found that Riske had made this showing by articulating his 
whistleblower activity, a history of being maligned by other officers for that activity, and his 
substantial qualifications for each of the 14 positions for which he had applied.  Thus, Riske did 
demonstrate a plausible factual basis sufficient to establish good cause and obtain an in-camera 
hearing.  Therefore, the City was required to produce the requested records pursuant to Riske’s 
Pitchess motion.  Riske v. Superior Court (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 647. 

PUBLIC RECORDS ACT COMPLIANCE MAY NOT SHIELD PUBLIC AGENCIES 
FROM PAYING ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

The City of San Diego was ordered by an appellate court to pay attorneys’ fees to a Public 
Records Act (“PRA”) requestor-plaintiff, Ponani Sukumar, despite having produced all requested 
records, and the trial court having dismissed the Public Records Act writ petition.   

The City was in process of responding to an extensive Public Records request from Sukumar 
concerning a threatened nuisance action by the City over conditions on property owned by 
Sukumar.  The records were produced, but Sukumar believed the production was inadequate.  He 
brought a writ action under the PRA after which the City produced additional documents.  The 
City then informed the court it had produced everything.  However, the plaintiff scheduled 
depositions and, as a result of those depositions, the City produced additional records.  The City 
then made another production, ostensibly completely responding to the PRA request.  The trial 
court dismissed the action and denied Sukumar’s attorney fee request, finding that he was not the 
prevailing party and that the litigation had not “motivated” or “substantially contributed to” the 
records production.   

On appeal, the court reversed the trial court’s determination.  Under the PRA, a plaintiff need not 
prevail in a PRA writ proceeding to be entitled to attorney’s fees.  For purposes of obtaining an 
attorneys’ fees award under the PRA, a plaintiff is viewed as prevailing when the litigation 
“results in the defendant releasing a copy of a previously withheld record.”  A voluntary 
disclosure will support an attorneys’ fee award when it can be said the lawsuit, “spurred 
defendant to act or was a catalyst speeding defendant’s response.”  Here, the Court of Appeal 
found that but for the depositions, the City would not have made a complete disclosure.  
Therefore, the court found that the litigation spurred the location and disclosure of the records 
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and the plaintiff was entitled to an award of attorney’s fees.  Sukumar v. City of San Diego
(2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 451. 

CIVIL DISCOVERY ACT APPLIES TO PUBLIC RECORDS ACT PROCEEDINGS 

Public entities litigating PRA cases may now face the additional burden of responding to civil 
discovery requests based on a recent Court of Appeal determination that the Civil Discovery Act 
applies to actions brought under the PRA.  This decision means that, under certain 
circumstances, individuals seeking records from a public agency pursuant to the Public Records 
Act may use the time-intensive civil discovery process to determine whether the agency is 
lawfully withholding documents.  Likewise, the agency may also send discovery requests to the 
party requesting the public records. 

The case in question began when an individual, Cynthia Anderson-Barker, filed a petition under 
the PRA asking the court to require the City of Los Angeles to disclose certain electronically 
stored documents and data relating to vehicles impounded by the Los Angeles Police 
Department.  The City argued that the requested materials did not qualify as “public records” 
because they were owned by a third party, a private company hired by the City to tow and store 
impounded vehicles, not the City itself.  Anderson-Barker then made a variety of discovery 
requests, seeking evidence regarding the City’s claim that it did not own the materials.  The City 
objected to the requests, arguing that Anderson-Barker had no right to them as part of a PRA 
action.  The trial court ruled against the City, holding that the Civil Discovery Act did apply to 
PRA proceedings, and ordered the City to disclose the documents. 

The City appealed, alleging that the language and intent of the PRA demonstrates that the Civil 
Discovery Act is inapplicable to PRA proceedings.  Allowing discovery in PRA actions, the City 
argued, defeats the Legislature’s purpose in establishing an expedited review process in such 
cases.  The City argued that had the Legislature intended to have the Civil Discovery Act apply 
to the PRA, it could have included specific language to that effect. 

The Civil Discovery Act applies in civil actions and “special proceedings of a civil nature.”  In 
rejecting the City’s argument, the court concluded that “[b]ecause the [Public Records Act] 
qualifies as a special proceeding of a civil nature, and the Legislature has not included any 
exemption precluding discovery in such proceedings… the discovery act applies.”  However, the 
court did note that the scope of discovery in a PRA proceeding may be more limited than in other 
types of civil actions.  Citing cases interpreting the Freedom of Information Act, the federal 
legislation on which the PRA was modeled, the court explained that “where the government has 
provided a detailed factual basis in support of its decision to withhold documents (generally 
through affidavits) discovery is warranted only if the plaintiff makes a sufficient showing of bad 
faith or is able to provide tangible evidence that the records have been improperly withheld.”  In 
evaluating motions to compel discovery, trial courts have discretion to consider whether the 
petitioner has “made an adequate showing that discovery is likely to aid in the resolution of the 
particular issues presented in the proceeding.” 

Finally, the court acknowledged the City’s argument that allowing discovery in PRA actions will 
impose increased burdens on public agencies, but concluded that such issues are best left to the 
Legislature to resolve.  The court noted that the burdens and delays that could be imposed on a 
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public entity could be considered by the trial court in exercising its discretion to allow discovery 
in a PRA proceeding.  City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court of Los Angeles (Anderson-Barker)
(2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 272. 

POBRA/FBOR/ DISCIPLINE 

POLICE OFFERS DO NOT HAVE A REASONABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY IN 
VIDEO RECORDS USED IN INTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS; POLICE OFFICERS 
ARE ENTITLED TO TAPE RECORDINGS, NOTES, REPORTS AND COMPLAINTS 
BEFORE SECOND INTERROGATIONS 

The Santa Ana Police Department initiated an internal affairs investigation into two police 
officers based on their conduct during the execution of a search warrant at a marijuana 
dispensary.  The Department initiated this investigation after video recordings of the officers, 
made by the dispensary owners without the officers’ knowledge, were released to the media.   

The Santa Ana Police Officers Association, along with the two officers in question, brought a 
suit against the City of Santa Ana, the Santa Ana Police Department and the Santa Ana Police 
Chief asserting two causes of action.  First, plaintiffs asserted that defendants had violated the 
California Invasion of Privacy Act, Penal Code section 630, et seq., by using the video 
recordings made at the marijuana dispensary as the basis for, and evidence in, the internal affairs 
investigation.  Second, the plaintiffs alleged that the defendants violated Government Code 
section 3300, subdivision (g), part of the Public Safety Officers Procedural Bill of Rights Act, by 
refusing to produce tape recordings of the initial interrogations of the officers, transcribed 
stenographer notes, and any reports or complaints made by the investigators or other persons, 
before interrogating the officers a second time.   

The trial court sustained, without leave to amend, the defendants’ demurrer to the first amended 
complaint.  On appeal, the court concluded that the complaint did not, and could not, state a 
violation of the California Invasion of Privacy Act because the officers did not have a reasonable 
expectation of privacy that their communications during the raid were not being overheard, 
watched, or recorded.  However, as to plaintiffs’ second cause of action, the Court of Appeal 
held that the defendants did violate POBRA because they were required to produce the tape 
recordings of the initial interrogations, transcribed stenographer notes, and reports and 
complaints made by the investigators or other persons before the officers were interrogated a 
second time.  Santa Ana Police Off. Assn. v. City of Santa Ana (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 317. 

COURT OF APPEAL FINDS THAT CITY’S POLICY OF REFERRING POLICE 
OFFICER MISCONDUCT TO POLICE COMMISSION WITHOUT PROVIDING FOR 
RIGHT TO APPEAL INSUFFICIENT UNDER POBRA 

After an investigation was conducted into the misconduct of officer Paulo Morgado based upon a 
citizen complaint, the Police Chief of the City and County of San Francisco filed a disciplinary 
complaint with the Police Commission.  Pursuant to the City’s charter, the Police Chief could 
impose discipline of up to ten days’ suspension or file a complaint with the Police Commission 
to seek a higher form of discipline, up to and including termination.  The Police Commission  
conducted a full evidentiary hearing based on the disciplinary complaint filed by the Police Chief 
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and decided to terminate Morgado’s employment.  Morgado was not provided with an 
opportunity to appeal the Police Commission’s decision.  

Government Code section 3304, subdivision (b), as part of the Public Safety Officers Procedural 
Bill of Rights Act (POBRA), provides that “[n]o punitive action . . . shall be undertaken by any 
public agency against any public safety officer . . . without providing the public safety officer 
with an opportunity for administrative appeal.”  The City argued that the evidentiary hearing 
before the Police Commission constituted the appeal required by POBRA in Government Code 
section 3304(b) because the Police Chief’s disciplinary complaint was punitive action and 
Morgado was provided with a hearing before the Police Commission.  Morgado argued that the 
Police Commission’s decision to terminate his employment constituted punitive action and that 
POBRA gave him the right to appeal. 

The Court of Appeal, in focusing on Government Code section 3304(b)’s requirement that 
officers be permitted an appeal to punitive actions, noted that the purpose of the appeal 
requirement is to ensure that a peace officer subjected to a punitive action has the opportunity to 
establish a formal record of the circumstances surrounding his termination and to attempt to 
convince the employer to reverse its decision.  While the City argued that Morgado was provided 
with an administrative appeal when he participated in the Police Commission’s evidentiary 
hearing, the court remained unpersuaded.  Instead, the court noted that even if the Police Chief’s 
complaint constituted a punitive action, Morgado’s termination was also a punitive action that 
had to be followed with an opportunity for administrative appeal.  As such, the Police 
Commission’s evidentiary hearing fell short of POBRA’s punitive action appeal requirement 
because Morgado was not provided with the opportunity to convince the City to reverse its 
decision to terminate his employment as the evidentiary hearing proceedings ended as soon as 
the decision to terminate him was made.  Morgado v. City and County of San Francisco (2017) 
13 Cal.App.5th 1.  

POBRA DOES NOT PROHIBIT COST AWARDS UNDER CODE OF CIVIL 
PROCEDURE SECTION 998 

A former police officer, plaintiff Aleksei E. Sviridov, filed an action against the City of San 
Diego and the San Diego Police Department for wrongful termination under the Fair 
Employment and Housing Act, violation of the Public Safety Officers Procedural Bill of Rights 
Act, and other claims.  Following summary judgment on plaintiff’s FEHA claim and a successful 
appeal by defendants, costs were awarded to the City in the amount of $90,387 pursuant to Code 
of Civil Procedure section 998.  

On appeal, plaintiff argued that the cost award entered against him was barred by the California 
Supreme Court decision in Williams v. Chino Valley Independent Fire Dist. (2015) 61 Cal.4th 
97, which held that costs should not be awarded under Government Code section 12965(b) to a 
defendant against an unsuccessful FEHA plaintiff “unless the plaintiff brought or continued 
litigating the action without an objective basis for believing it had potential merit.”  Plaintiff also 
argued that POBRA prohibited an award of costs for the defense against his POBRA claim 
unless the action was frivolous or brought in bad faith.  The City argued that neither of these 
statutes applied because it was entitled to its costs pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 
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998 after plaintiff rejected multiple statutory settlement offers and did not obtain a favorable 
result. 

On appeal, the court noted that the general rule under Code of Civil Procedure section 1032, 
subdivision (b), states that, “[e]xcept as otherwise expressly provided by statute, a prevailing 
party is entitled as a matter of right to recover costs in any action or proceeding.”  The court 
clarified that the ruling in Williams based on FEHA’s provisions, did not preclude an award of 
costs under section 998.  Likewise, the sanctions provision under POBRA did not preclude an 
award under section 998.  The court explained section 998, subdivision (c)(1), which provides 
that, “[i]f an offer made by a defendant is not accepted and the plaintiff fails to obtain a more 
favorable judgment or award, the plaintiff shall not recover his or her postoffer costs and shall 
pay the defendant’s costs from the time of the offer” operates as an exception to Code of Civil 
Procedure section 1032 which states the general rule that only the prevailing party is entitled to 
costs.  Sviridov v. City of San Diego (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 514. 

IDENTITIES OF INDIVIDUAL DEPUTIES FOUND TO HAVE COMMITTED 
MISCONDUCT MAY NOT BE RELEASED TO THE PROSECUTION ABSENT 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE PITCHESS STATUTES 

In Brady v. Maryland (1963) 373 U.S. 83, the United States Supreme Court held that 
constitutional due process creates an affirmative obligation on the part of the prosecution, 
whether or not requested by the defense, to disclose all evidence within its possession that is 
exculpatory to a criminal defendant, including impeachment evidence.  Eleven years after Brady, 
the California Supreme Court, in Pitchess v. Superior Court (1974) 11 Cal.3d 531, held that 
under certain circumstances, and upon an adequate showing, a criminal defendant may discover 
information from a peace officer's otherwise confidential personnel file that is relevant to his or 
her defense.  The California Legislature codified what became known as the Pitchess statutes, in 
Penal Code sections 832.7 and 832.8 and Evidence Code sections 1043 through 1045, which 
require a criminal defendant to file a written motion that establishes good cause for the discovery 
sought.  If such a showing is made, the trial court then reviews the law enforcement personnel 
records in camera with the custodian, and discloses to the defendant any relevant information 
from the personnel file.  Absent compliance with these procedures, peace officer personnel 
records, as well as information from them, are confidential and cannot be disclosed in any 
criminal or civil proceeding.  

In this case, the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department and Los Angeles County (LASD) 
created a so-called Brady list of deputies whose personnel files contain sustained allegations of 
misconduct allegedly involving moral turpitude or other bad acts relevant to impeachment.  The 
LASD proposed to disclose that list to the district attorney, as well as to other prosecutorial 
agencies that handle LASD investigations, so that prosecutors in individual cases could file 
Pitchess motions to discover the underlying misconduct or advise the defense of the disclosure 
so the defense could file its own Pitchess motion.  The Association for Los Angeles County 
Deputy Sheriffs opposed disclosure of the Brady list and sought an injunction that prohibited 
disclosure of the list or any individual on the list to anyone outside the LASD, including 
prosecutors, absent compliance with the Pitchess process. 
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The trial court granted a preliminary injunction, prohibiting general disclosure of the list, but 
allowing disclosure of individual deputies who were potential witnesses in a pending criminal 
case.  The Court of Appeal ordered any language in the injunction that allowed real parties to 
disclose the identity of any individual deputy on the LASD's Brady list to any individual or 
entity outside the LASD, even if the deputy is a witness in a pending criminal prosecution, 
absent a properly filed, heard, and granted Pitchess motion, to be stricken.  Therefore, the LASD 
could internally maintain a Brady list, but could not disclose it to the DA or other prosecutorial 
agency, without compliance with Pitchess procedures.  Assn. for L.A. Deputy Sheriffs v. Super. 
Ct. (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 413. 

CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL CLARIFIES PUBLIC EMPLOYER IMMUNITY 
UNDER GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 850.4 

Rebecca Quigley, a U.S. Forest Service firefighter, was called in by the Forest Service to assist 
with fighting a large wildfire in the Plumas National Forest.  While doing so, Quigley and other 
firefighters were required to sleep at a basecamp in tents and sleeping bags on the ground.  While 
some areas were roped off, separated from parking, and labeled as “sleeping areas”, others were 
not.  Every time Quigley went to try and find a place in the designated sleeping areas, she 
discovered they were full and was forced to sleep in a field with other firefighters.   

One night, while Quigley was sleeping in a field in her sleeping bag, an employee of an 
independent contractor that was servicing a nearby shower unit drove his truck onto the field 
where Quigley was sleeping in order to collect used water for his truck.  In doing so, he ran over 
and severely injured Quigley.  Quigley sued the Garden Valley Fire Protection District, Chester 
Fire Protection District, and three employees, alleging she was injured as a result of their 
negligence, failure to warn, and maintaining a dangerous condition of public property.  The 
defendants argued that they were entitled to immunity under Government Code section 850.4 
which grants public agencies and public employees immunity against claims for injuries caused 
by fighting fires.  The trial court granted the defendants’ motion for nonsuit. 

On appeal, the Court of Appeal clarified that Section 850.4 is construed to apply to two types of 
injuries: those resulting from the condition of firefighting equipment or facilities and those 
caused by fighting fires.  In this case, even though the injury Quigley suffered was not the result 
of fighting fires, the immunity provisions were nonetheless triggered because Section 850.4 
explicitly and broadly provides sovereign immunity for any injury resulting from the condition 
of firefighting equipment and facilities.  Therefore, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court’s 
ruling and recognized that the Legislature intended to give fire protection agencies as much 
latitude as necessary to fulfill their mission.  Quigley v. Garden Valley Fire Protection Dist. 
(2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 1135. 

RETIREMENT/ PENSION BENEFITS 

LONGEVITY PERFORMANCE STIPENDS NOT INCLUDED IN CALPERS PENSION 
BENEFITS CALCULATION 

Defendant County of Monterey (County) entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
with the Monterey County Deputy Sheriffs Association (Association) which provided a 
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longevity performance stipend to members of the Association that completed twenty years of 
service with the County and received a satisfactory or outstanding performance evaluation.  The 
County did not report the stipend to CalPERS and the stipend was not included in CalPERS’ 
calculation of member retirement benefits.  Plaintiffs sought to compel the County to report this 
stipend to CalPERS and have it added as an item of special compensation in calculating their 
CalPERS benefits. 

The California Court of Appeal held that, as a matter of law, an employee stipend based upon 
employee longevity and performance is properly excluded from the CalPERS calculation of the 
employee’s public pension benefits.  In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeal held that 
section 571(a) of the California Code of Regulations exclusively identifies and defines special 
compensation items that must be reported to CalPERS if contained in a written labor policy or 
agreement.  Even if longevity stipends and performance stipends, if separate, would have 
qualified, longevity performance stipends were not included in the exclusive list of matters 
considered to be special compensation; therefore, it was not required to be reported and was 
properly excluded from the calculation of CalPERS pension benefits.  DiCarlo v. County of 
Monterey (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 468.  

OFFICERS RECEIVING DUTY DISABILITY INCOME NOT “HONORABLY 
RETIRED” ENTITLING THEM TO CARRY CONCEALED WEAPON 

Allison Jacobs and Dennis Mueller were previously employed by the University of California 
Police Departments as peace officers.  Both received Duty Disability Income (DDI) under the 
University of California Retirement Plan (UCRP) based upon injuries they sustained while on 
duty.  DDI provides certain benefits not typically offered to retired employees and does not 
require separation from service to receive income through DDI, as opposed to retirement income 
offered under the UCRP which requires a separation from employment before income is paid.  
For this reason, income provided under DDI increases the ultimate retirement benefit, should the 
recipient choose to retire, and also lessens the monetary contribution the recipient is required to 
make towards continuing benefits such as medical, dental and legal. 

Penal Code section 25455 provides that peace officers who are “honorably retired” shall be 
issued “an identification certificate by the law enforcement agency from which the officer 
retired,” which “shall have an endorsement on the identification certificate stating that the 
issuing agency approves the officer's carrying of a concealed firearm.”  This retired officer 
identification card and endorsement allows officers to carry a concealed firearms, absent a 
showing of good cause to deny it.  Jacobs, Mueller and their union filed a petition for a writ of 
mandamus asserting that the Regents of the University of California had a clear duty to either 
provide them with an identification certificate and endorsement to carry a concealed weapon 
pursuant to Penal Code section 25455 or provide good cause as to why they were not entitled to 
do so. 

After a hearing on the writ petition, the trial court entered judgment for the Regents.  The Court 
of Appeal found that the Regent’s UCRP system did not provide for a disability retirement when 
it provided the officers with DDI benefits; therefore former officers were not “honorably retired” 
as required to obtain identification card and concealed weapons endorsement.  Jacobs v. Regents 
of the Univ. of Calif. (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 17. 
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FREE SPEECH 

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYER’S POLICY IMPOSING PRIOR RESTRAINTS ON 
EMPLOYEE SPEECH AS CITIZENS ON MATTERS OF PUBLIC CONCERN MUST 
BEAR A CLOSE AND RATIONAL RELATIONSHIP TO EMPLOYER’S LEGITIMATE 
INTERESTS 

Matt Moonin was a trooper in the Nevada Highway Patrol (NHP), canine drug interdiction 
program (K9 Program).  Moonin filed a complaint against the Nevada Highway Patrol and his 
supervisor, Major Kevin Tice, alleging that the policy announced in a February 24, 2011 email to 
K9 Program officers violated the First Amendment by imposing an impermissible prior restraint 
on government employee speech.  The email at issue, sent shortly after the K9 program was 
reorganized, prohibited K9 Program employees from having any direct contact with any non-
departmental and non-law enforcement entity or persons for the purpose of discussing the K9 
Program.  Any violation of the policy was considered to be insubordination and would “be dealt 
with appropriately.” 

The district court concluded that the email was an unlawful prior restraint and that the supervisor 
was not entitled to qualified immunity because  “a reasonable supervisor would have known that 
such a mandate was an unconstitutional intrusion into Plaintiffs' established First Amendment 
rights.”  On appeal, the Ninth Circuit determined whether the email policy violated the First 
Amendment by imposing an impermissible prior restraint on government employee speech.   

The court used a two-step analysis derived by the Supreme Court's decision in Pickering v. 
Board of Education (1968) 391 U.S. 563, to guide its analysis of restrictions on public employee 
speech.  First, the court looked at whether the restriction at issue impacts a government 
employee’s speech as a citizen on a matter of public concern.  Here, the court found that Tice’s 
policy covered speech outside of the troopers’ official job duties and touched on matters of 
public concern as the policy was not limited to direct or indirect logistics relating to the K9 
Program or internal personnel disputes.  The court then determined whether Tice “had an 
adequate justification” for implementing the policy.  Because Tice could not show any past 
disruption sufficient to justify the expansive policy announced, or demonstrate that any harms 
anticipated were real and not conjectural, the court ruled that the prospective speech restriction 
imposed by Tice’s email violated the First Amendment.  Additionally, the court found that 
because Tice’s policy made no attempt to tailor the speech restrictions to NHP’s legitimate 
interests, Tice was not entitled to qualified immunity.   

Finally, the Ninth Circuit made clear that “a public employer generally may not subject all 
employee speech regarding a particular government program – whether fact or opinion, and 
whether liable to disrupt the workplace or not – to a blanket ban. A government employer’s 
policies imposing prior restraints on their employees’ speech as citizens on matters of public 
concern must bear a ‘close and rational relationship’ to the employer’s legitimate interests, and 
the board policy Tice announced did not meet this standard.”  Moonin v. Tice (9th Cir. 2017) 868 
F.3d 853. 
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PUBLIC EMPLOYEES DO NOT RETAIN FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS WHEN 
COMMENTING ON MATTERS OF PUBLIC CONCERN IN THEIR OFFICIAL 
CAPACITY 

Plaintiff Maria Brandon worked for many years as a civil litigation attorney for the Maricopa 
County Attorney’s Office (“MCAO”), and later briefly as a direct employee of Maricopa County 
defending the County and related entities in civil lawsuits before returning to MCAO.  During 
her time as a direct employee of the County, she received a call from a local newspaper inquiring 
about a case she was handling for the Maricopa County Sheriff’s Department.  During this phone 
conversation, Brandon stated that she believed the County had made an overly generous 
settlement offer to a group of protestors claiming that they had been the victims of police 
brutality only to avoid embarrassing certain County officials who might have been required to 
give deposition testimony.  These comments were printed in the local newspaper and attributed 
to Brandon. 

After Brandon returned to her position at MCAO, County officials contacted her regarding what 
they believed to be her unprofessional conduct as a lawyer representing the County.  Based on 
these statements, which County officials attributed as misgivings in Brandon’s judgment, these 
officials recommended that Brandon not be assigned any further cases.  Brandon’s employment 
with MCAO was subsequently terminated.  Brandon filed suit against the County and County 
officials claiming that she had been fired in retaliation for exercising her First Amendment rights 
in speaking to the local newspaper.  At trial, a jury found for Brandon as to her First Amendment 
claim and the District Court entered judgment on the basis of the jury’s verdict. 

On appeal, the County argued that Brandon’s speech to the newspaper was made pursuant to her 
official duties and therefore was not protected by the First Amendment from discipline.  As a 
matter of law, the Ninth Circuit found that speech made by public employees in their official 
capacity is not insulated from employer discipline by the First Amendment, but that speech made 
in a public employee’s private capacity as a citizen is.  As an attorney for the County, Brandon 
had a broad fiduciary duty to her client, the County, including the duty to comply with 
obligations concerning client confidences.  While Brandon was not speaking within her chain of 
command, she was speaking as a lawyer representing the County when she spoke with her local 
newspaper on a matter that she was representing the County in.  Therefore, the Ninth Circuit 
found that Brandon did not state a successful First Amendment retaliation claim and reversed the 
judgment.  Brandon v. Maricopa County (9th Cir. 2017) 849 F.3d 837. 

FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS OF CALIFORNIA PUBLIC AGENCIES AFFIRMED 

A county environmental health division assisted the district attorney in investigating an 
explosion and fire at a private waste water treatment at the Santa Clara Water Company’s 
facility.  The County Of Ventura Environmental Health Division discovered twenty-four totes 
and drums of a chemical called “Petromax” that the County characterized as “hazardous” 
because of their high pH levels.  The County then forwarded its findings and conclusions to the 
District Attorney for consideration in its pending prosecution of the Company.  The Company 
filed a lawsuit claiming it did not hold hazardous waste and that the County improperly denied it 
an impartial administrative hearing on the issue.  The County filed a motion to dismiss the 
lawsuit as an anti-SLAPP suit (Strategic Lawsuit Against Public Participation) . 
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The trial court denied the motion to dismiss, but the Second District Court of Appeal reversed 
that decision.  The Court of Appeal held that the motion should have been granted because the 
Company was challenging an act in furtherance of the County’s right to free speech in 
connection with a public issue.  It also found that the Company failed to establish a likelihood of 
success on its claim. 

The court found that the Company’s main argument was that the County had no right to declare 
Petromax a hazardous waste and that the primary purpose of the lawsuit was to silence the 
County and prevent it from assisting in the DA’s prosecution.  Thus, the appellate court 
concluded that the Company’s lawsuit was an attack on the County’s right to free speech.  This 
satisfied the first prong of the County’s anti-SLAPP burden. 

The court then turned to the second step of the anti-SLAPP analysis, the probability that the 
Company would prevail on the merits.  The court also ruled in the County’s favor on this point, 
finding that the Company had not established a probability of success.  The court reasoned that a 
direct enforcement action by the County might have given rise to the Company’s equal 
treatment, statutory procedure and due process causes of action.  However, because the County 
was simply issuing a report to the DA and cooperating with the DA in an already open 
investigation — not regulating or enforcing the law on its own — the true focus of the 
Company’s lawsuit was to silence the County’s input.  This distinction, while subtle, is crucial to 
the application of the anti-SLAPP statute in suits involving government entities.  In reversing the 
trial court’s decision and granting the County’s anti-SLAPP motion, the appellate court noted: 
“[e]ven the government has First Amendment rights.”  Santa Clara Waste Water Company v. 
County of Ventura Environmental Health Division 2017 WL 5898576. 

THE SUPREME COURT SET TO HEAR ANOTHER CASE ON THE ISSUE OF 
MANDATORY AGENCY SHOP LAWS AND FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS 

Last year in Friedrichs v. California Teachers Association (2016) 136 S. Ct. 1083, the Supreme 
Court was set to decide whether teachers and other public employees’ First Amendment rights 
were violated by “agency shop laws” that required the compulsory payment of fair share fees to 
the union.  Leading up to the Supreme Court’s review of this case, many sought to have the 
Supreme Court resolve whether Abood v. Detroit Board of Education, 431 U.S. 209 (1977), 
should be overruled and whether public-sector agency shop arrangements should be invalidated 
under the First Amendment.  Because this case was heard and decided by the Supreme Court in 
the wake of Justice Scalia’s death, the lower court judgment was simply affirmed by an equally 
divided Supreme Court.   

Now, agency shop laws are again subject to review in Janus v. American Federation of State, 
County, and Municipal Employees, Council 31 (AFSCME).  Mark Janus, a child support 
specialist employed by the Illinois Department of Healthcare and Family Services, is suing to 
invalidate agency shop laws based upon the argument that this this compulsory arrangement 
violates his rights under the First Amendment.  Janus declined membership in the union, but 
under the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act, he was still required to pay the union an “agency 
fee” as a condition of his continued employment.  Janus argued that he was being forced to 
subsidize the speech of others, namely AFSCME officials, and that the First Amendment 
protects against the government compelling speech just as much as it protects against the 
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government censoring speech.  The Seventh Circuit sided with AFSCME because the holding in 
Abood dictated such a result.  The Supreme Court is set to hear this case by July of 2018.  Janus 
v. American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, Council 31 (2017) 851 F.3d 
746, certiorari granted by Janus v. American Federation, U.S., September 28, 2017. 

GOVERNMENT ACTIONS ARE NOT PROTECTED SPEECH UNDER CALIFORNIA 
ANTI-SLAPP LAW 

When a government entity issues a construction permit, that is government action not protected 
by California’s anti-SLAPP law, which extends only to constitutionally protected exercises such 
as “free speech”, the Court of Appeal said in a recent opinion.  Governments, like individuals, 
engage in speech.  Just like individuals, a government entity sued for engaging in protected free 
speech can assert that right as a defense and seek to have the case dismissed early under the anti-
SLAPP statute.  However, the anti-SLAPP statute does not apply unless the lawsuit against the 
governmental entity specifically targets government speech and not government action. 

The Shahbazians challenged the City’s retroactive approval of a construction permit to their 
neighbor, Brenda Hesser, while the City denied a permit sought by them.  In response to the 
lawsuit, the City asserted the anti-SLAPP defense claiming that the issuance of the construction 
permit was an act of government speech and therefore was “protected speech” under the anti-
SLAPP statute.  The trial court denied the anti-SLAPP motion and the Court of Appeal affirmed, 
concluding that issuing a permit, a decision mandated by law, is governmental action and not 
covered by the anti-SLAPP statute.  For a government entity to assert the anti-SLAPP defense, it 
must be able to demonstrate that the lawsuit against it targets specific instances of government 
speech protected by the First Amendment. 

The Court of Appeal noted that the courts are particularly concerned about government entities 
asserting the anti-SLAPP defense because, if governments can liberally assert the defense, it will 
chill individuals from challenging government action and judicial oversight of potential abuses.  
Going forward, this opinion adds to a growing line of cases that demonstrate that courts will 
closely examine anti-SLAPP claims when asserted by a government entity to ensure that the 
lawsuit targets government speech and not government action.  Government entities that assert 
this defense in the future will need to be able to demonstrate to the court that a lawsuit targets the 
entity’s or an official’s speech and not the measure under challenge itself.  Shahbazian v. City of 
Rancho Palos Verdes (2017) 17 Cal.App.5th 823. 

LITIGATION ISSUES 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS AND CONSULTANTS CAN BE SUBJECT TO 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST LAWS  

In a watershed decision, the California Supreme Court held that independent contractors and 
consultants can be considered “employees” and subject to the conflict of interest provisions of 
Government Code 1090.  This includes the criminal penalties mandated in section 1090, which 
prohibits personal financial interests in government contracts. 

The decision will require all public agencies to assess and re-assess the role and function of their 
independent contractors and consultants to determine whether they, either by definition under 
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their contract or by reason of their functions, qualify as an “employee” under the statute.  This 
will also have implications for listing these positions in the agency’s conflict of interest code and 
requiring the filing of Statements of Economic Interest (FPPC Form 700) by those individuals.  
Additionally, it will have a significant impact on the ability of these independent contractors and 
consultants to obtain “additional work” on projects under a contract in which they had a hand in 
“making,” such as furnishing a design or plan. 

Hossain Sahlolbei was retained as a surgeon on an independent contractor basis by Palo Verde 
Hospital, a public hospital district.  In addition, he served as co-director of surgery and on the 
hospital’s medical executive committee, composed of members of the medical staff, which was 
independent of the hospital, but advised the board on operations and physician hiring.  He also 
served as chief and assistant chief of staff with considerable influence over board decisions in 
those roles. 

Sahlolbei recruited an anesthesiologist, Dr. Brad Barth, and negotiated a contract with Barth for 
Barth to receive $36,000 per month from the hospital and a one-time payment of $10,000 for 
relocation expenses.  Sahlolbei pressured the board to approve the contract, but told the board the 
rate of pay was $48,000 per month, with a one-time payment of $40,000 for relocation expenses.  
It was alleged that Sahlolbei threatened to have the medical staff stop admitting patients if the 
board did not approve the contract.  Sahlolbei convinced Barth to have all payments from the 
hospital deposited into Sahlolbei’s account and Sahlolbei then paid Barth the agreed upon 
$36,000 per month and $10,000 relocation payment and retained the balance. 

The Riverside County District Attorney charged Sahlolbei with grand theft and violations of 
Government Code section 1090, which prohibits a government official, officer or employee from 
having a financial interest in a contract made by them in an official capacity.  The trial court 
dismissed the section 1090 charges, finding that as an independent contractor, Sahlolbei was not 
an “employee” under the statute, applying the tort law definition of “employee.”  The District 
Attorney’s office appealed and the Court of Appeal agreed with the trial court.  

On appeal, the Supreme Court held the term “employee” in section 1090 does not have the tort 
law definition when it is used in the broadly construed and sweeping conflict statute, meant to 
prevent corruption and divided loyalties in connection with government contracts.  Thus, the 
form of employment is irrelevant.  The Supreme Court held that the standard to determine 
whether an independent contractor or consultant qualifies as an “employee” under the statute is 
to determine if “they have duties to engage in or advise on public contracting that they are 
expected to carry out on the government’s behalf.”  Further, to determine if they are involved in 
“making” a contract in their official capacity under the statute, one looks to whether “their 
position afforded them ‘the opportunity to influence execution [of the contracts] directly or 
indirectly to promote [their] personal interests’ and they exploit those opportunities.”  Prior 
appellate decisions held that an independent contractor or consultant had to have had 
“considerable influence” over the contract formation and execution decisions of the public 
agency to come within the meaning of “employee” under the statute and to be considered to have 
participated in the “making” of the contract.  However, based on this decision, the Supreme 
Court clearly lowered that standard.  People v. Superior Court (Sahlolbei) (2017) 3 Cal.5th 230. 
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COURT OF APPEAL INTERPRETS EDUCATION CODE SECTION 45306 
REQUIREMENTS SURROUNDING A COMMISSION’S DUTY TO INVESTIGATE 

Rodger Hartnett, a former employee of the San Diego County Office of Education whose 
employment was terminated in 2008, sued the Office and others alleging wrongful termination 
and other causes of action.  Hartnett filed successive writ petitions seeking reinstatement with 
back pay pending an administrative review process before the Office’s personnel commission.  
After Hartnett’s administrative review proved unsuccessful, he filed a second writ petition 
challenging the fairness and legality of the commission’s findings based upon the grounds that 
the commission had failed to investigate the matter as required by Education Code section 
45306.   

Education Code section 45306 covers a commission’s obligations following an employee’s 
appeal of a disciplinary action.  Specifically, section 45306 states in pertinent part, “The 
commission shall investigate the matter on appeal and may require further evidence from either 
party, and may, and upon request of an accused employee shall, order a hearing.  The accused 
employee shall have the right to appear in person or with counsel and to be heard in his own 
defense.”  Additionally, “[t]he commission may conduct hearings, subpoena witnesses, require 
the production of records or information pertinent to investigation, and may administer oaths. It 
may, at will, inspect any records of the governing board that may be necessary to satisfy itself 
that the procedures prescribed by the commission have been complied with.  Hearings may be 
held by the commission on any subject to which its authority may extend as described in this 
article.”  This statutory scheme gives the commission power to have a hearing officer or other 
representative conduct any hearing or investigation, and present findings or recommendations to 
it.  

Here, the Court of Appeal found that the commission fulfilled its statutory duty to investigate the 
allegations against Hartnett surrounding his termination by conducting a four-day evidentiary 
hearing at which time Hartnett was either present or chose to be present through his legal counsel 
and the parties were represented and afforded the opportunity to present oral and documentary 
evidence relevant to the charges, cross-examine witnesses who were sworn under oath, and argue 
their positions to the commission.  The court held that the commission satisfied its duty to 
investigate and determine the truth of the allegations against Hartnett, and whether his 
termination was warranted through the hearing and no separate investigation was required.  The 
court noted that section 45306 does not mandate that an investigation and hearing be 
independently conducted, or prevent the investigation and hearing from taking place at the same 
time or being done concurrently.  For these reasons, the Court of Appeal held judgment in the 
Office’s favor.  Hartnett v. San Diego County Office of Education 2017 WL 6379442. 

EMPLOYEE FAILURE TO PROVIDE DISTRICT WITH NOTICE OF HIS 
GRIEVANCE DID NOT SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS 
OF THE GOVERNMENT CLAIMS ACT AND BARRED HIS RIGHT TO RELIEF 

Plaintiff Olson was a Manhattan Beach Unified School District history teacher and head baseball 
coach until 2012 when some parents of players on the baseball team filed a complaint with the 
District regarding Olson’s “abusive behavior, intimidating tactics, bullying and hazing of 
[players] and . . . conspicuous disregard for [player] safety and welfare”.  Shortly thereafter, the 
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District investigated the allegations and prepared a report.  Despite the positive findings in the 
initial report, the District’s Superintendent revised the initial report to delete all reference to the 
positive comments students had reported about Olson’s behavior and prohibited Olson from 
attending baseball games or practices or having contact with the players after 3:00 pm.  Parents 
of players then filed a complaint with the commission on teacher credentialing arguing that the 
District had failed to discipline Olson properly and argued that he should be dismissed for 
unprofessional conduct.  The commission recommended that Olson be suspended for thirty days 
largely based on the revised investigation report. 

Olson sued the District arguing that the revised investigation report and the production of this 
revised report to the commission on teacher credentialing had constituted defamation and 
deceit.  The trial court dismissed Olson’s claim on the grounds that his grievance, filed pursuant 
to the District’s collective bargaining agreement, did not satisfy the claim filing requirements of 
the Government Claims Act.  The Court of Appeal affirmed this decision largely based on the 
fact that Olson never filed a claim with the District on a government claim form.  As such, 
because Olson failed to put the District on notice with regards to his grievance, his claim, even if 
valid, was properly barred.  Olson v. Manhattan Beach Unified School District (2017) 17 
Cal.App.5th 1052. 

PERB CASES 

CITY MUST MEET AND CONSULT WITH UNION BEFORE PLACING BINDING 
INTEREST ARBITRATION REPEAL ON THE BALLOT  

Since 1978, the City of Palo Alto’s charter required binding interest arbitration when the City 
failed to reach an agreement on a labor contract with its police or firefighters unions.  Then, in 
2011, the City placed a measure on the ballot in an upcoming election to repeal that charter 
provision, which the voters approved.  The firefighters union filed an unfair practice charge with 
the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) alleging that the City had failed to meet and 
consult in good faith with the union before placing the charter provision repealing the binding 
interest arbitration on the ballot.  A PERB administrative law judge decided in favor of the 
union, reversing an earlier proposed decision, and ordered the City to rescind its 2011 resolution 
that referred the measure to the voters. 

The City then filed a petition for a writ of extraordinary relief and asked the Court of Appeal to 
annul PERB’s decision and dismiss the unfair practice charge.  Despite the court approving 
PERB’s reasoning that the City failed to meet and consult with the union, the court granted the 
City’s writ and annulled PERB’s decision.  The court noted that the duty to meet and consult is 
“very much like” the duty to meet and confer, with the only difference being the scope of 
coverage of this obligation.  However, because PERB is a quasi-judicial agency, the court found 
that it had violated the separation of powers doctrine by ordering a legislative body to take 
legislative action.  For this reason, PERB did not have the power to declare the City’s resolution 
void.  Several outstanding issues have been left unresolved in the wake of this case including 
whether impasse and fact-finding will apply to meeting and consulting just as it does to meeting 
and conferring.  The City has filed a petition for review in the California Supreme Court that we 
will continue to monitor.  City of Palo Alto v. PERB (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 1271. 
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EMPLOYERS CANNOT IMPOSE CHANGES ON EMPLOYEE PENSION 
CONTRIBUTIONS DIFFERENT THAN THOSE STATED IN ITS LAST, BEST AND 
FINAL OFFER 

Prior to 2011, the City of Roseville had agreed to pay an eight percent member contribution to 
CalPERS on behalf of its employees.  Then, during negotiations between the union and the City 
for a successor Memorandum of Understanding, the City proposed completely eliminating its 
eight percent contribution it made on behalf of its employees to CalPERS.  The union promptly 
rejected this proposal after which the City proposed gradually phasing out the member 
contribution over a period of three years.  The union again rejected this proposal and the parties’ 
operative Memorandum of Understanding expired on December 31, 2010 while the parties 
continued to bargain. 

In April 2011, the City made a Last, Best and Final Offer to the union proposing a one-year 
Memorandum of Understanding for the calendar year of 2011 during which time the City would 
pay a four percent contribution on their employees’ behalf to CalPERS with the employees 
contributing the other four percent.  The parties understood that the contribution would be 
annualized, meaning that if the proposal was not adopted until July 2011, the City could deduct 
up to eight percent from its employees’ paychecks to make up the total four percent deduction 
for the calendar year.  The union rejected the City’s Last, Best and Final Offer, but the City 
began deducting eight percent from its employees’ paychecks.  This practice of deducting the 
full eight percent continued into 2012 despite the Last, Best and Final Offer stipulating that the 
employees would only pay the four percent contribution for the calendar year of 2011. 

The union then filed an unfair practice charge with the Public Employment Relations Board 
(PERB) alleging that the City had failed to engage in good faith bargaining and had made a 
unilateral change with respect to employee pension contributions when the City continued to 
make its employees pay the full eight percent member contribution in 2012.  While PERB did 
not find that the City had bargained in bad faith, it did find that the City had committed a 
unilateral change by continuing the practice of deducting the full eight percent from employee 
paychecks beyond the calendar year of 2011.   

While the parties had already entered into a new Memorandum of Understanding in April of 
2012, PERB rejected the City’s argument that the terms in the 2011 Memorandum of 
Understanding were permitted to stay in effect until the parties could agree upon different terms.  
Therefore, as part of its remedy, PERB ordered the City to make its employees whole for the 
member contributions that were deducted from their paychecks from the period of January to 
April of 2012.  Following this decision, public employers must take great care to draft language 
carefully, especially in Last, Best and Final Offers.  IBEW Local 1245 v. City of Roseville (2016) 
PERB Dec. No. 2505-M. 

OFFER TO REDUCE THE NUMBER OF LAYOFFS IN EXCHANGE FOR FINANCIAL 
CONCESSIONS FROM THE UNION WAS NOT BAD FAITH CONDITIONAL 
BARGAINING  

In early 2012, the Anaheim Union High School District was negotiating with each of its 
employee groups when it began negotiations for a successor agreement with the American 
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Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees (AFSCME), the exclusive bargaining unit 
for the District’s classified employees.  The District informed AFSCME that it was facing a 
multi-million dollar budget deficit and asked AFSCME to make significant concessions 
including furlough days and on employee health benefit premiums.  While other bargaining units 
had agreed to these concessions, AFSCME had not despite the District informing AFSCME that 
furlough days and layoffs were inevitable.  The District then informed AFSCME that if an 
agreement was reached on all issues by July 1, 2012, it would only lay off a “short list” of six 
employees, but if no agreement was reached by that time, then a “long list” of employees would 
be laid off and the hours for an additional twenty-three employees would be reduced.  

The District and AFSCME exchanged several proposals, but no agreement was reached by the 
July 1 deadline.  The District undertook laying off and reducing the hours for its “long list” of 
employees.  The District then presented AFSCME with its Last, Best, and Final Offer.  
Negotiations and meetings between the parties continued until August 6 when the District 
declared impasse. 

AFSCME then filed an unfair practice charge against the District alleging that the District 
unlawfully conditioned agreement and/or insisted to impasse on a non-mandatory subject when it 
advised AFSCME that it would lay off fewer employees if AFSCME agreed to various economic 
concessions, including furloughs.  AFSCME also alleged that the District negotiated in bad faith 
and that during the impasse proceedings, the District unlawfully conditioned reinstatement of 
laid off employees and restoration of employee hours on AFSCME’s agreement to relinquish a 
favorable arbitration award.  The Administrative Law Judge rejected AFSCME’s allegations and 
dismissed the unfair practice charge. 

Upon review, the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) affirmed the Administrative Law 
Judge’s decision.  As to AFSCME’s bad faith claim, PERB found that the District’s offer to lay 
off fewer employees if an agreement was reached between the parties by July 1, was a good faith 
incentive to broker a deal.  As to AFSCME’s allegations that the District had insisted on a non-
mandatory subject for bargaining, PERB found that even if the subject was non-mandatory, 
AFSCME had waived any objections to it or to voice its unwillingness to bargain over the 
subject.  Further, PERB held that the District’s proposal regarding the magnitude of the layoffs 
was not entirely non-mandatory as the union alleged, specifically stating, “an employer’s 
decision to layoff is not subject to bargaining, but the negotiable effects of that decision 
including the timing, number and identity of the employees to be laid off” are subject to 
bargaining.  AFSCME v. Anaheim Union High School District (2016) PERB Dec. No. 2504. 

EMPLOYERS MAY NOT PROHIBIT EMPLOYEES FROM WEARING UNION 
REGALIA AT WORK OR DISTRIBUTING UNION LITERATURE DURING NON-
WORK TIME  

Until 2009, the Fresno County Superior Court had no written policies prohibiting solicitation 
and/or display of union writings, images or regalia, or any written policies prohibiting 
solicitation and distribution of literature during nonworking time.  As such, several employees 
routinely wore or displayed union writings, images, regalia, buttons, pins, coffee mugs, lanyards, 
and other items in the courthouse without incident.  Further, staff and employee representatives 
of the Service Employees International Union (SEIU), the exclusive representative of Court 
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employees, routinely distributed literature at employee workstations before work, during meal 
breaks and after work without incident.  

After giving notice and meeting on four occasions and exchanging proposals with SEIU 
representatives without agreement, on December 1, 2009, the Court unilaterally imposed new 
personnel rules prohibiting its employees from wearing or displaying union insignia at the 
courthouse, from soliciting and distributing union literature anywhere on Court property, and 
displaying union writings and images in all work areas visible to the public.  SEIU challenged 
these new personnel rules.  

An Administrative Law Judge found that the Court’s personnel rules violated the Trial Court 
Employment Protection Governance Act and Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) 
Regulations by prohibiting employees from wearing union regalia anywhere in the courthouse, 
restricting employees and their representatives from distributing union literature during 
nonworking time in nonworking areas, and banning the display of union writings and images in 
all work areas visible to the public. 

PERB affirmed the Administrative Law Judge’s decision on all three issues and found that the 
Court’s personnel rules interfered with employee and union protected rights.  As to the Court’s 
rule on union regalia, PERB affirmed the general rule that wearing union clothing, buttons or 
pins in the workplace is protected absent special circumstances.  As to the Court’s restriction on 
distributing literature, PERB affirmed the Administrative Law Judge’s holding that a prohibition  
on distributing literature during work time is permitted since “working time is for work.”  
However, PERB noted that work time does not include breaks or meal periods.  Further, as to the 
Court’s prohibition on distributing literature in work areas, PERB found that because work areas, 
are also used for breaks, the Court’s rule was impermissibly vague.  PERB reiterated that 
restrictions such as this one must be narrowly drawn and any ambiguity will be construed against 
the drafter of the rule.  SEIU v. Fresno County Superior Court (2017) PERB Dec. No. 2517-C. 


